

Black Carbon Monitoring Feasibility Report

June 2024

Mote Limited Consultancy Report 2024/002

Black Carbon Monitoring Feasibility Report

Prepared by:

Hamesh Patel^{1,2} Paul Baynham¹ Brett Wells¹ Hannah Martin² Perry Davy³

¹ Mote Limited, 40a George Street, Mount Eden, Auckland

² The School of Environment, The University of Auckland, 23 Symonds Street, Auckland

³ The Institute of Geological and Nuclear Sciences, 30 Gracefield Road, Gracefield

Prepared for:

Ministry for the Environment

This report has been peer reviewed by the Peer Review Panel during June 2024.

Reviewer 1:

Dr Melita Keywood Senior Principal Research Scientist Environment Business Unit The Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation

Reviewer 2:

Prof David Cohen Distinguished Research Scientist Centre for Accelerator Science Australian Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation

Approved for release by: Dr Brett Wells, Mote Limited

First draft published:	May 2024
External peer review:	June 2024
Final version published:	July 2024

Recommended citation: Patel, H.; Baynham, P.; Wells, B.; Martin, H.; Davy, D.; (2024). Black Carbon Monitoring Feasibility Report. Prepared by Mote Limited for The Ministry for the Environment. Auckland (NZ). Mote Limited consultancy report 2024/002

Disclaimer: This report has been prepared by Mote Limited exclusively for and under contract to Ministry for the Environment. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by Mote Limited, Mote Limited accepts no responsibility for any use of or reliance on any contents of this report by any person other than Ministry for the Environment and shall not be liable to any person other than Ministry for the Environment, on any ground, for any loss, damage or expense arising from such use or reliance.

Acknowledgements

Mote Limited would like to thank the regulatory authorities across New Zealand that contributed to the information contained in the report. The authors would also like to thank international experts from Australia and the United States.

Table of Contents

Exec	cutive Summaryv
1.	Introduction1
1.1.	Scope of Work 1
1.2.	Report Structure
1.3.	Engagement with Councils, Unitary Authorities and International Experts
2.	Why Measure Black Carbon?
2.1.	How is Black Carbon defined?
2.2.	Sources of BC3
2.3.	Physio-Chemical Properties of Black Carbon3
2.4.	Health Effects
2.5.	World Health Organization 2021 Air Quality Guidelines Update
2.6.	Environmental Impacts and Atmospheric Lifetime5
2.7.	Current Standards and Guidelines6
3.	Measuring Black Carbon and Recommended Techniques7
3.1.	Measurement Techniques7
3.2.	Mass Absorption Coefficient (MAC)8
3.3.	Filter Artifacts
3.4.	Instruments for the Measurement of Black Carbon9
3.4.1	0 Offline Measurements
3.4.2	2. Online Measurements
3.5.	Source Apportionment
3.6.	Sample Stability and Size Fraction Dependence12
4.	Implementing Black Carbon Monitoring in New Zealand14
4.1.	Sources of Black Carbon in New Zealand15
4.2.	Existing Black Carbon Monitoring in New Zealand15
4.2.1	Online Measurements 15
4.2.2	2. Offline Measurements 15
4.2.3	 Monitoring results from New Zealand17
4.2.4	I. Future Black Carbon Monitoring 18
4.3.	Cost to Monitor Black Carbon
4.3.1	Online Instrumentation 18
4.3.2	2. Offline Instrumentation
4.3.3	 Low-cost/portable/handheld
4.3.4	4. Project Based Scenarios

4.3.4	1.1.	Scenario 1	20
4.3.4	1.2.	Scenario 2	21
4.3.4	1.3.	Scenario 3	21
5.	Be	enefits of Introducing Monitoring to Jurisdictional Programme	22
5.1.		Links to Other Pollutants	22
5.2.		Benefits of Monitoring	23
5.3.		Practicality of Measurement	25
6.	En	nissions Inventories & Long-Term Trends	26
6.1.		Emissions Inventories	26
6.2.		New Zealand Emissions Inventories	26
6.3.		Anthropogenic Emissions	28
6.3.1	١.	On-road Transport	29
6.3.2	2.	Domestic Home Heating (Biomass & Coal)	30
6.3.3	3.	Industry	31
7.	Su	ımmary	32
8.	Re	ecommendations	33
9.	Re	ferences	34

List of Figures

Figure 1: Transmission electron microscopy image of carbonaceous particle agglomerations
from biomass combustion (the white scale bar at bottom left spans 200 nm) (Source: (Davy and
Ancelet 2015)
Figure 2: Data from the aethalometer at the Henderson air quality monitoring station presented
over hour-of-day and month-of-year. The purple line represents the ultraviolet channel, whilst
the red line represents infrared channel 11
Figure 3: Comparison of BC measurements on the same filters after 10 years in storage 12
Figure 4: Black carbon concentrations in PM _{2.5} versus PM ₁₀ samples from (Left) Hastings during
2022 and (Right) Westport during winter 2023. (Source: Davy and Trompetter 2023, 2024) 13
Figure 5: A flow chart describes under what circumstances different techniques could be
applied and the justification for this 14
Figure 6: Black carbon sampling locations in New Zealand. Sites in BLUE indicate continuous
permanent monitoring locations, while sites in RED are collecting continuous BC data from
temporary locations. Sites in black and blue indicate the locations where offline (filter-based)
measurements have been collected 16
Figure 7: Filter-based offline BC concentrations measured at NZ monitoring locations. The red
line represents the WHO $PM_{2.5}$ AAQG of 15 μg m $^{-3}$
Figure 8: Results from Councils and Unitary Authorities on their preferences for co-located
pollutant monitoring
Figure 9: TheilSen trend showing the ratio of BC to $PM_{2.5}$ from the Auckland. Statistically
significant to 99.9% confidence interval 23
Figure 10: Average source contributions to BC concentrations at New Zealand monitoring sites
in the North Island (top) and South Island (bottom)24
Figure 11: Emissions factors for BC from five main sectors (energy, industrial, residential, on-
road motor vehicles, other anthropogenic and wildfires between 2002 and 2017 27
Figure 12: TheilSen trend showing decreasing anthropogenic BC emissions from New Zealand
(a) and decreasing BC measured concentrations across the Auckland region (b) from 2002 -
2017. Statistically significant to 99.9% confidence interval
Figure 13: TheilSen trend showing decreasing motor vehicle BC emissions from New Zealand (a)
and decreasing motor vehicle associated BC concentrations measured across the Auckland
region (b) from 2002 - 2017. Statistically significant to 99.9% confidence interval
Figure 14: TheilSen trend showing decreasing residential BC emissions across New Zealand (a)
an increasing biomass combustion associated BC concentrations measured across the
Auckland region (b) from 2002 - 2017. Statistically significant to 99.9% confidence interval 30

List of Tables

Table 1: The three main filter artifacts associated with filter-based optical measurements	. 8
Table 2: Advantages and disadvantages of various optical measurement methods for	
determining BC	10
Table 3: Costs to purchase and operate (for one year) multi-wavelength aethalometers	19
Table 4: Detailed costs to purchase and operate various common brands of multi-wavelength	
aethalometers	19
Table 5: Detailed costs to run a filter-based monitoring programme for the analysis of BC using	
existing PM monitoring instruments	20
Table 6: New Zealand's BC emissions (estimate from emissions inventories) across five	
anthropogenic sectors as well as wildfires in 2017	27

Appendices

A1.0 Draft Questionnaire for Councils	43
A2.0 Description of Methods	44
A3.0 Black Carbon Measurement	45
A4.0 Site Summary and Metadata	46
A5.0 Summary of Responses	49
A6.0 Source Apportionment	50

Appendix Tables

Table A1: Description of the various methods used for the determination of BC with advan	tages
and disadvantages of each	44
Table A2: New Zealand PM speciation and BC monitoring sites	46
Table A3: Summary of response from Councils on monitoring of BC	49

Appendix Figures

Figure A1: Time-series plot of source contributions to (left) black carbon and (Right) PM_{10} at the	;
Takapuna site, Auckland5	0

Executive Summary

This report details the feasibility of monitoring Black Carbon (BC) in New Zealand. BC is an atmospheric aerosol derived from the incomplete combustion of carbonaceous fuels (primarily fossil fuel and biomass). There is a growing body of evidence regarding the negative impacts of BC on human health and the Earth's climate. A number of global organisations (The World Health Organization (WHO), The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) and The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) have issued and continued their warnings to reduce emissions of BC due to these impacts. As part of its updated 2021 Air Quality Guidelines and Good Practice Statements the WHO recommends to: *Make systematic measurements of black carbon and/or elemental carbon. Such measurements should not replace or reduce the existing monitoring of pollutants for which guidelines currently exist.*

The motivation for Councils and Unitary Authorities to monitor BC are threefold: a) to quantify and track changes in BC emissions (from a State of the Environment (SoE) perspective) and its impact on human health, for both national and international evaluation; b) to better understand the drivers of peak particulate matter (PM) concentrations and emission sources (i.e. source apportionment and the impact of policy interventions on BC emissions; c) to gauge the importance of BC emissions on any present or future climate obligations, particularly through current energy transitions.

Across New Zealand, historical BC monitoring data and source apportionment from receptor modelling highlight two key sources of BC: diesel vehicle emissions and domestic home heating emissions. BC concentrations vary (by time and location), with defined peaks and patterns through hour-of-the-day and season. Within urban centres, BC is dominated by diesel vehicle emission adjacent to busy roads and intersections whilst in smaller towns and residential areas, BC is dominated by domestic home heating due to the prevalence of solid-fuel burners. Due to New Zealand's geography, there is a north-south increase in domestic home heating use. Concentrations remain elevated due to unfavourable topography and associated meteorological conditions, especially in the cooler months. Given these differences in BC emissions, a range of monitoring strategies are likely to be appropriate, given the various population sizes of regulatory authorities, funding and variations in emissions sources.

Internationally, the extent of BC impact is not fully understood due to limited continuous monitoring data and inconsistencies in monitoring methodologies. BC measurement is defined by optical methods consisting of light transmission or reflectance techniques. Optical methods can include online instruments such as aethalometers or offline instruments like reflectance or multi-wavelength transmissometers which can take measurements from filters. However, variability in instrument algorithms can lead to varying results. Care must be taken to understand instrument variability, with co-location seen as an important step.

One large benefit of aethalometers is their ability to differentiate between sources in real-time. This enables regulatory authorities to resolve and evaluate the impact of various emission sources (e.g. diesel vs domestic home heating emissions) at different locations, times of the day and seasons. This information can be crucial for understanding PM emission sources and tracking the effectiveness of targeted policy and mitigation practices pertaining to specific activities.

The size of the jurisdiction and current understanding of emissions sources will determine the approach to monitoring. For small regions, there are two options: a) an online, seasonal survey with a multi-wavelength aethalometer or b) an offline seasonal survey using a filter sampler and offline BC assessment methods. For larger cities, it is recommended that continuous measurement of BC is undertaken with a multi-wavelength aethalometer at peak PM sites. For regions unable to perform dedicated BC monitoring, sampling being undertaken for regulatory PM monitoring can be sent to a lab for offline, post-sampling analysis.

Feedback from regulatory authorities highlighted that a number are already performing BC monitoring as part of their ongoing regulatory monitoring or have performed screening surveys during peak PM concentrations. A number of authorities are planning to commence or expand monitoring in the coming years although note key barriers being a lack of a standard, guidance on how to monitor and process their data, funding and limited skills and knowledge sets within their current teams. They also highlighted the lack of a PM_{2.5} standard and would like to see more traction in this area before progressing BC monitoring.

As the literature continues to grow, defining the impact of BC on human health and the environment, there is motivation for Councils and Unitary Authorities to monitor BC. Across New Zealand, the sources of BC are understood but continuous, online monitoring is limited. This is further highlighted by the lack of local emissions factors and inventories for BC.

1. Introduction

Black carbon (BC) is a measurement property of atmospheric aerosols derived from combustion associated activities (primarily fossil fuel and biomass burning) due to incomplete combustion, synonyms include 'soot' or light absorbing carbon (LAC). BC has a negative impact on human health with links to increased hospital admissions, reduction in healthy life years and increased mortality (Luben et al., 2017). It also has impacts on the Earth's climate system acting as a short-lived climate forcer.

Within New Zealand the extent of the impact of BC is not fully understood due to limited data and inconsistences in monitoring methodology. There is a need to understand what monitoring methodology is most widely accepted and would be appropriate for the regulatory monitoring of BC.

This report details the feasibility of monitoring BC for Regional Councils and Unitary Authorities. The scope of work, methodology and report structure are detailed below. This includes engagement with regional Councils and Unitary Authorities as well as international experts.

1.1. Scope of Work

Mote Limited was contracted to deliver a report on monitoring BC in New Zealand. The following questions were posed and will be addressed in the following chapters.

- 1. How BC should be defined for monitoring purposes?
- 2. How practical is it (for Regional Councils) to monitor BC?
- 3. What are the estimated costs of monitoring BC?
- 4. How should BC monitoring be linked in with existing monitoring?
- 5. What will BC monitoring provide that existing council air quality monitoring doesn't (e.g. value/benefit of BC monitoring)?
- 6. A summary of BC emissions factors applicable to New Zealand and identification of gaps/further work needed.
- 7. What are the recommended next steps for monitoring BC in New Zealand?

1.2. Report Structure

The report is comprised of eight chapters and can be broken down as follows:

- 1. Chapter 2 defines BC, detailing its sources, properties and impacts on human health and climate. This chapter builds a case for measuring BC in a systematic manner.
- 2. Chapter 3 describes the various ways in which BC can be measured and recommends appropriate techniques for regulatory measurement. It also highlights various instrumental techniques and the significant benefit of real-time source apportionment offered by multi-wavelength aethalometers.
- 3. Chapter 4 investigates implementing BC monitoring in New Zealand. It describes the local sources of BC, the current locations of measurement and presents historical data. This chapter also details which regulatory authorities are planning to monitor BC and the associated costs to measure BC using various instruments.
- 4. Chapter 5 presents the benefits of monitoring and what other pollutants should be measured alongside BC.
- 5. Chapter 6 presents emissions factors and inventories for BC whilst comparing them with long-term trends from monitoring data.
- 6. Chapter 7 provides a summary and synthesis of the report.
- 7. Chapter 8 details knowledge gaps and recommendations.

The appendices provide more detailed information on relevant sections.

1.3. Engagement with Councils, Unitary Authorities and International Experts

As this work is reporting on the feasibility of monitoring a new pollutant in airsheds across New Zealand, an integral part of this report was to engage with New Zealand Regional Councils, Unitary Authorities and international experts. For Council engagement, this process involved circulating a questionnaire (Appendix 1) which was then followed up with short interviews. Responses from the questionnaire are included throughout the report. We achieved a high response rate from respective regulatory authorities. From the initial survey, 12 out of 16 Councils responded. For the follow up short interview, we had engagement from 15 Councils. Engagement with international experts was conducted via virtual interviews to gather relevant information pertaining to industry standards, guidelines and monitoring methodology.

2. Why Measure Black Carbon?

This chapter introduces how BC is defined, describes its sources and the physio-chemical properties of BC, its effects of human health and the environment. This chapter also highlights the lack of guidelines in New Zealand and the need for systematic measurement.

2.1. How is Black Carbon defined?

Black carbon is a term given to soot-like atmospheric aerosols that consist of (almost) pure carbon in several linked forms, and which is formed through the incomplete combustion of carbonaceous fuels. BC is a common constituent of airborne particulate matter (PM) and is a global environmental problem that has impacts on human health and the environment (Janssen et al., 2012). BC is not to be confused with other carbonaceous aerosols. Total carbon (TC) aerosol mass is comprised of three parts: organic carbon (OC), inorganic carbonates (IC) and the third fraction is referred to elemental carbon (also: BC, soot, refractory carbon) (Petzold et al., 2013). There is ambiguity around a strict definition of BC depending on specific disciplines and the measurement techniques employed (Savadkoohi et al., 2023; Shu et al., 2023).

Bond et al. (2013), defined BC as being characterised by carbonaceous material that:

- 1. Strongly absorbs visible light with a mass absorption coefficient of 5 $m^2 g^{\text{-1}}$ at a wavelength of 550 nm.
- 2. Is refractory and retains its basic form at high temperatures, with a vaporization temperature near 4000 K.
- 3. Is insoluble in water, in organic solvents and other atmospheric aerosols.
- 4. Exists as aggregates of small carbonaceous spherules.

For the purposes of this report, BC refers to the light and heat absorbing component of atmospheric aerosols, and is resistant to chemical transformation (Petzold et al., 2013; Savadkoohi et al., 2023). BC can have different physical and chemical properties depending on combustion source and combustion temperature, giving rise to differing optical light-absorbing properties (Janssen et al., 2012; Manohar et al., 2021). BC measurement can be accomplished through a variety of methods and technologies that measure its concentration in the air, though the most commonly used approaches employ either thermal/optical methods or absorption photometry. The measurement of BC is further explained in Chapter 3.

2.2. Sources of BC

Globally, there are a variety of BC sources. These include: the combustion of fossil fuels (especially diesel engines), domestic home heating due to the burning of wood and coal, power generation using fossil fuels (coal, heavy oil), agricultural field burning, forest wildfires as well as aviation (Janssen et al., 2012; Helin et al., 2018; Correa-Ochoa et al., 2023).

The primary sources can vary from region to region, but across New Zealand, the primary sources of BC include those emitted from the combustion of fossil fuels and domestic home heating (Ancelet et al., 2013; Crimmins et al., 2019; Patel et al., 2020). The sources of BC in New Zealand are further explored in Section 4.1.

2.3. Physio-Chemical Properties of Black Carbon

The size range of BC particles has been well characterised across a variety of emission sources both in New Zealand (Davy et al., 2007; Ancelet et al., 2011a, 2011b; Davy et al., 2012; Salako et al., 2012; Ancelet et al., 2013; Trompetter et al., 2013) and internationally (Ke et al., 2007; Schneider et al., 2008; Lack et al., 2009; Hays et al., 2011; Lopez-Reyes et al.,

2016). Due to the formation process, fresh BC is usually comprised of individual carbonaceous spheres in the ultrafine range (between 10-30 nm in diameter). They can agglomerate to form larger particles between 300-500 nm in diameter. BC is formed due to the incomplete combustion of fossil fuels and biomass, in anoxic environments and under high temperature conditions (Shrestha et al., 2010; Marina-Montes et al., 2022).

The characteristics of the combustion source have an important bearing on particle size and carbonaceous composition. High temperature combustion conditions (diesel engines, power stations) produce smaller, graphitic carbon particle entities (Allen et al., 2001; Huang et al., 2006; Ancelet et al., 2011a; Hung et al., 2014). Lower temperature biomass combustion (wood fires for home heating, wildfire, forest fires) produce a mixture of carbon agglomerations and larger particles (500 – 900 nm) composed of a soot core and coated in organic 'tar' from incomplete combustion (Pósfai et al., 2003, 2004; Davy, et al, 2007).

The physio-chemical properties of particles, (particle shape, size, refractive index and aerosol mixing state within the sample) is dependent on source and location of the source and plays an important role in determining the methods employed to measure BC.



Figure 1: Transmission electron microscopy image of carbonaceous particle agglomerations from biomass combustion (the white scale bar at the bottom left spans 200 nm) (Source: (Davy and Ancelet 2015).

2.4. Health Effects

There is an expanding body of evidence associating negative health impacts with exposure to BC. Due to the small size of BC (usually emitted in the ultrafine fraction with agglomerations in the sub-micron range BC can be inhaled deep into the lungs providing direct access to the blood stream and be transported around the body. BC exposure has been associated with increased respiratory and cardiovascular disease, with increased rates of hospitalization and mortality, along with a significant decrease in healthy-life years (Janssen et al., 2011, 2012; Sharma and Kumar, 2018). Janssen et al. (2011) also concluded in their review that a 1 μ g m⁻³ mass increase in BC led to an eight-fold increase in all-cause mortality.

There is increasing evidence for adverse health impacts that are stronger for exposure to BC than for $PM_{2.5}$ (Janssen et al., 2011; Grahame et al., 2014). Studies investigating the toxicological impacts of BC suggest BC may function as a carrier for other toxic chemicals around the body (Janssen et al., 2012; Ezani et al., 2021). Multiple epidemiological studies highlight the positive association between exposure to BC and increased blood pressure, changes in heart-rate variability, oxidative stress and cognitive disfunction (Louwies et al., 2015; Laeremans et al., 2018; Bista et al., 2023). The national burden of BC related health

effects in the United States has been estimated at approximately 14,000 deaths per year (2010 BC levels), and hundreds of thousands of illness cases, ranging from hospitalizations and emergency department visits to minor respiratory symptoms (Lie et al., 2016).

Although New Zealand has no published health related statistics linked to BC, a recent study found that health impacts associated with $PM_{2.5}$ (of which BC is a significant proportion (~40% in Auckland)) is responsible for 1,292 premature deaths and 1.7 million restricted activity days across New Zealand (Kuschel et al., 2022; Boamponsem et al, 2024).

2.5. World Health Organization 2021 Air Quality Guidelines Update

In 2021, WHO released an update of their air quality guidelines (AQG), the first major update in 15 years. Although there were updates to the other criteria air pollutants, a guideline for BC was not introduced due to insufficient evidence to propose an AQG level. To address concerns about the impacts of BC/EC on environmental and human health, three good practice statements were formulated:

- 1. Make systematic measurements of black carbon and/or elemental carbon. Such measurements should not replace or reduce the existing monitoring of pollutants for which guidelines currently exist.
- 2. Undertake the production of emission inventories, exposure assessments and source apportionment for BC/EC.
- 3. Take measures to reduce BC/EC emissions from within the relevant jurisdiction and, where considered appropriate, develop standards (or targets) for ambient BC/EC concentrations.

2.6. Environmental Impacts and Atmospheric Lifetime

Due to its physio-chemical form, BC plays an important role in the Earth's climate system. While most aerosols in the atmosphere scatter incoming solar radiation, resulting in a net cooling effect on the atmosphere, BC absorbs significantly more light than it reflects, resulting in a net warming effect. The magnitude of the positive radiative forcing from BC is reported to be third only to CO_2 and CH_4 (IPCC, 2023). It is noted that there remains significant uncertainty in quantifying the radiative forcing of BC aerosols due to uncertainty in scattering coefficients of the aerosol (Wu et al., 2018, 2019; Sun et al., 2019).

When BC is deposited on, or precipitated with snow, it lowers the albedo (reflective properties) and the absorbed light heats the snow causing it to melt. This has important implications for permanent snowpack such as the Himalayan, Arctic and Antarctic regions (Bond et al., 2013; Santos et al., 2014; Spohn et al., 2022; Cuesta-Mosquera et al., 2024).

Reduced visibility is common in cities due to haze formation from air pollutants. The primary cause of haze is fine particles ($PM_{2.5}$) (Lei et al., 2021; Marley et al., 2021), of which, BC is a core constituent. Particles within the atmosphere reduce visibility by scattering and absorbing incoming solar radiation (Kirchstetter et al., 2004). The scattering and absorption of visible light from BC particles is further enhanced due to its physical size and colour (i.e. BC particle size is comparable to the wavelength of visible light and dark in colour). Many of New Zealand's cities and towns experience reduced visibility due to haze. Smaller towns experience reduced visibility due to high BC emissions (from domestic home heating) whilst Auckland experiences episodic 'brown haze' events associated with high concentrations of $PM_{2.5}$ (of which ~40% is BC) and nitrogen dioxide (NO_2) from motor vehicle emissions (Marley et al., 2021; Boamponsem et al, 2024).

Due to BC's small size, and its ability to be transported and dispersed over long distances, it has wide-ranging effects on visibility and climate. The atmospheric lifetime of BC is estimated

to be in the order of days to weeks. A number of parameters influence the atmospheric lifetime of BC including the emission source (which also dictates composition and internal chemical mixing), the emission height, local meteorology and atmospheric circulation patterns. An important removal mechanism of BC from the atmosphere is wet deposition (Park et al., 2005; Cape et al., 2012). Due to its relatively 'short' atmospheric lifetime, the management of BC emissions is seen to be a prime candidate for near-term reduction in positive climatic forcing (Park et al., 2005; Jacobson, 2010; Sasser and Chappell, 2011; Cape et al., 2012; Smith and Mizrahi, 2013).

2.7. Current Standards and Guidelines

As stated in Section 2.6, the WHO has not formally introduced an air quality guideline (AQG) for BC. This is mirrored around the world with no current guidelines or target values for ambient BC in any jurisdiction. The absence of guidelines is largely due to a historical lack of consistent methodologies and long-term modelling (Tobías et al., 2018; Crimmins et al., 2019; Nie et al., 2022; Savadkoohi et al., 2024). The exception is occupational workplace exposure limits which are outside the scope of this report.

In 2017, the European Committee for Standardisation (CEN) released a standard for a coherent approach in the analysis of carbonaceous aerosols. *EN16909:2017 - Ambient air - Measurement of elemental carbon (EC) and organic carbon (OC) collected on filters*. Although the standard does provide a detailed methodology for the analysis of EC and OC from quartz filters, the standard does not provide a guideline or target concentration for regulatory air shed management.

In 2024, the European Parliament tightened its regulations to align with the updated 2021 WHO AQG (Directive 2022/0347/COD). It suggests monitoring of BC and ultrafine particles to support understanding of their impacts on the environment and health. It also suggests the use of monitoring supersites to gather continuous long-term data for criteria pollutants, and unregulated emerging contaminants, such as BC and ultrafine particles.

3. Measuring Black Carbon and Recommended Techniques

This chapter describes the different methods for measuring BC and how the light absorbing properties of BC are used (by the instrumentation) to infer BC mass. Different types of instrumentation are discussed with real-time source apportionment being a key benefit of aethalometers measuring BC.

3.1. Measurement Techniques

There are three quantitative methods for characterising combustion particles based on the physio-chemical properties described in Section 2.3. The three methods include Thermal Optical Analysis (TOA), Optical Methods (OM) and Light-Induced Incandescence (LII). Appendix 2 provides an in-depth description of the three methods with advantages and disadvantages. However, a synopsis of the three methods is below:

- Thermal optical analysis (TOA) is ideally suited for differentiating between elemental carbon and organic carbon by heating the sample in different atmospheres (oxidising/non-oxidising) and analysing the gases released at different temperatures. This method is best for in-depth analysis of the different types of carbon collected on a sample but requires complex lab analysis of samples.
- Optical methods are ideally suited for measuring the amount of BC on a filter. This method can be employed in offline or online continuous measurement. It works by measuring the attenuation of light (of different wavelengths) through a filter. The light attenuation is indirectly converted to a mass of BC using a mass absorption coefficient (MAC); discussion on MAC is detailed in Section 3.2.
- Laser induced incandescence takes a sample on a filter where it is heated rapidly to achieve gasification. A mass of BC is determined by the intensity of the signal measured by instrumentation. Like the TOA method, this method requires complex lab analysis techniques.

Selection of the most appropriate method will depend upon the purpose of the BC monitoring programme. Whilst TOA and LII are used globally to measure carbonaceous species (measuring OC/EC), they are not be suitable for the real-time measurement of BC within regulatory applications due to their complex and expensive setups, high uncertainties at low concentrations, as well as their inability to measure BC (Zhang et al., 2023). TOA and LII are most appropriately included in a list of techniques that are classified as 'research' or 'forensic' techniques. Other techniques in this list include Raman Spectroscopy, Scanning Electron Microscopy and Aerosol Mass Spectrometry, Transmission Electron Microscopy and are not commonly used for the long-term determination of BC for regulatory applications. These techniques are outside the scope of report, and we will focus on optical methods moving forward.

Optical methods utilising light absorption are an internationally recognised and accepted method of measuring BC for both offline and continuous online measurement. Due to the physio-chemical properties, BC absorbs strongly in the visible light spectrum, with much less absorption from other primary aerosols such as soil, sea salt and secondary aerosols (sulphates, nitrates and organics).

Various subsets of BC sources, such as biomass burning, and fossil fuels (among others) may be distinguished by light absorption ratios at different wavelengths, thereby allowing the contribution from different combustion sources to be assessed from monitoring data. In this way, the instrument can infer the source of the BC emissions; this is further examined in Section 3.4.

3.2. Mass Absorption Coefficient (MAC)

Optical methods utilise a MAC to indirectly infer BC mass from light attenuation measured from a sample (Bond and Bergstrom, 2006; Bond et al., 2013; Grange et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2023). MAC is dependent on the physio-chemical properties of the particles which varies due to source and location. Throughout the literature, MAC values have been known to vary significantly due to particle age, location, sources and time of year (Grange et al., 2020; Savadkoohi et al., 2023). This is important to understand as most OM instruments employ a fixed MAC; this is understood to be a significant source of uncertainty in the determination of BC concentrations. This assumption only holds for BC particle sizes less than λ/π where, λ is the wavelength of the absorbing light and π represents a constant of ~3.142 (Horvath, 1997; Manohar et al., 2021).

The UK Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (DEFRA) have noted that different instruments and changing algorithms have impacted their data and are currently working to find a solution to make their data comparable (Ciupek et al., 2022). Some Councils and international experts also highlighted this discrepancy which is further validated in the literature.

3.3. Filter Artifacts

Filter artifacts are an important consideration with filter-based absorption measurements (both online and offline). There are three main artifacts to consider. These are 1) multiple scattering; 2) aerosol backscattering; 3) the loading effect (Table 1) (Bond et al., 2013; Ferrero et al., 2021).

Artifact	Description
Multiple Scattering	Enhanced light attenuation and optical path scattering by filter fibres.
Aerosol Backscattering	Light attenuation due to scattering by aerosols embedded in the filter.
The Loading Effect	The non-linear optical path reduction induced by absorbing particles accumulated in the filter.

Table 1: The three main filter artifacts associated with filter-based optical measurements.

Most instruments deal with these artifacts internally (through instrument algorithms). Therefore, it is important to understand how your instrument applies its correction (especially when comparing data from different instruments or changing instrument types (make/model/firmware) at a site.

3.4. Instruments for the Measurement of Black Carbon

There are a number of commercially available BC optical instruments. These include offline measurements that can make reflectance or transmission measurements using filters collected from a separate PM measurement system or online (continuous) measurements from in-situ devices such as aethalometers. These are described in further detail in this section.

3.4.1. Offline Measurements

Offline measurements are made from pre-collected ambient air samples which have been collected using a separate PM sampling system (such as a Thermo Partisol or MetOne E-SEQ Sampler). The filter is then returned to the lab where post-sampling analysis takes place. The mass of BC is determined using an instrument such as the Smoke Stain Reflectometer (SSR) or the Multi-wavelength Absorption Photometer (MABI). The SSR (white light, average wavelength of 550 nm) is still widely used for determining BC mass, however, has several limitations in that it cannot be used to assess sources of BC. The MABI is a relatively new instrument, operates at 7 different wavelengths, and provides the ability to perform source apportionment. As the instrument utilises light transmission, it is important that pre-sampling measurements are made prior to sampling. Most co-location data is linearly correlated, with changes in slope or intercept largely a result of variations in the MAC. For offline measurements care should be taken when handling filters.

3.4.2. Online Measurements

Online measurements are made using an automated instrument which provides data in near real-time. In this instance, an instrument (such as an aethalometer) samples PM onto a filter tape. The instrument measures the attenuation of light at either single or multiple wavelengths through the tape. The instrument then calculates the mass of BC using a predefined MAC set in the instrument software. Online instruments include the Aethalometer (AE) – (single and multi-wavelength), the Multi-Angle Absorption Photometer (MAAP) and the Particle Soot Absorption Photometer (PSAP). The Magee AE33 is the most commonly cited instrument throughout the literature and commonly used for instrument intercomparisons. AE are produced by several other manufacturers including, MetOne, Aethlabs and ThermoFisher. Table 2 highlights some of the advantages and disadvantages of various optical measurement methods for determining BC. Table 2: Advantages and disadvantages of various optical measurement methods for determining BC.

	Filter-based	Multi Wavelength Aethalometer	Dual Wavelength Aethalometer	Single Wavelength Aethalometer	Low-cost /Portable /Handheld
Number of wavelengths measured	Varies	3-8	2	1	Varies (between 1-5)
Wavelengths measured (nm) (can vary)	Broadband,40 5, 465, 525, 639, 870, 940, 1050,	370, 470, 520, 590, 660, 880, 950	370, 880	870	370, 470, 520, 625, 880
Capital Expenditure	\$\$	\$\$\$\$	\$\$\$	\$\$	\$
Operating cost (consumables)	\$	\$\$\$	\$\$	\$\$	\$\$
Operating cost (labour)	\$\$\$\$	\$	\$	\$	\$\$\$
Minimum useable time resolution	Depends on PM sampling system (hourly possible)	Sub-hour	Sub-hour	Sub-hour	Sub-hour
Enclosure needed?	No	Yes	Varies	Varies	Yes
Ease of data telemetry	N/A	Good	Good	Good	Moderate
Size selective inlet option	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Operator skill level required	Low	Moderate	Moderate	Low	Low
Source Apportionment	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Sometimes

3.5. Source Apportionment

Source apportionment is a process which identifies sources of various air pollutants at a particular location providing useful information for policymakers to formulate and implement BC emission mitigation strategies.

As outlined by Kirchstetter et al. (2004) BC from biomass burning has a different spectral dependency than that produced from motor vehicle tail-pipe emissions. Low temperature combustion processes (such as biomass burning) produce aerosols that exhibit much stronger spectral dependence than those produced by high temperature (diesel tail-pipe emissions). This has been further confirmed throughout the literature (Sandradewi et al., 2008; Grange et al., 2020). BC from fossil fuel sources, such as diesel exhaust emissions absorb over the whole visible and near-infrared (nIR) wavelengths (~600 nm – 950 nm) whilst emissions from biomass burning, which contain other LAC, absorb more strongly at the ultraviolet (UV) and low visible wavelengths (~300 nm – 500 nm) (Kirchstetter et al, 2004; Grange et al., 2020).

This spectral dependence is useful for real-time source apportionment of biomass and vehicle traffic combustion sources utilised by multi-wavelength instrumentation. Attenuation of nIR and UV light can be used to apportion BC mass to either biomass or fossil fuel combustion using pre-defined MAC's. This is often referred to as the 'aethalometer model' and been used widely (Sandradewi et al., 2008; Healy et al., 2017; Mousavi et al., 2019; Nie et al., 2022).

Figure 2 presents data from the aethalometer at the Henderson, Auckland air quality monitoring station. The aethalometer model for apportioning BC to biomass or fossil fuel combustion clearly distinguishes between traffic and domestic home heating emissions at this location. During summer, when domestic home heating emissions are low/negligible, there is no deviation between the 370 nm and 880 nm channels. As time progresses through autumn and winter, the impact of domestic home heating in the morning and evening is observed being greatest in the winter, when domestic home heating emissions peak, evidenced by much larger deviation between the two channels in winter are limited.



Figure 2: Data from the aethalometer at the Henderson air quality monitoring station presented over hour-of-day and month-of-year. The purple line represents the ultraviolet channel, whilst the red line represents infrared channel.

While offline measurement techniques offered by reflectometry can quantify mass of BC, they are unable to apportion sources. Instruments like the MABI do offer a solution to offline measurement source apportionment, however online instrumentation like multi-wavelength photometers offer superior time resolution of BC as well as source apportionment (Helin et al., 2018); this is one significant advantage of the aethalometer. During stakeholder engagement for this review, source identification was highlighted as one of the primary objectives of current monitoring programmes from regulatory authorities currently monitoring BC.

A benefit of offline measurements is their ability to be archived and analysed at a later date. They can also be analysed via gravimetry to determine the amount of PM in the air and further analysis may be undertaken using techniques such as ion beam analysis, x-ray fluorescence spectroscopy, scanning electron microscopy and Raman spectroscopy for the determination of particle sources using source apportionment.

3.6. Sample Stability and Size Fraction Dependence

Black carbon concentrations in PM samples collected on filters have been determined by the same methodology across all sample sets held by GNS Science since 1996. Full descriptions of the light absorbance measurement methodology and derivation of BC concentrations are provided in Appendix 3. A remarkable feature of BC is the stability of measured concentrations even after years of storage. Figure 3 presents a plot of BC concentrations on filters from several Auckland sites and Hastings that were measured in 2007 and then again in 2016 and 2023 respectively after being stored in the meantime (individual petri dishes in cardboard boxes at room temperature). The Auckland sites are dominated by BC from motor vehicle combustion emissions (Davy and Trompetter, 2019) whereas the Hastings site is dominated by BC emissions from solid fuel fires for domestic home heating in the winter (Davy and Trompetter, 2023).



Figure 3: Comparison of BC measurements on the same filters after 10 years in storage.

The simultaneous monitoring of the two size fractions at several locations has provided the opportunity to directly compare component species for coincident samples. For BC, concentrations in both $PM_{2.5}$ and PM_{10} were found to be essentially the same (slight differences are due to measurement uncertainty), as presented in Figure 4. This is expected since BC particles are smaller than 2.5 microns and are entirely contained in the $PM_{2.5}$ fraction (a subset of PM_{10}). Therefore, when discussing BC concentrations from different sampling campaigns we can reasonably intercompare results for PM_{10} and $PM_{2.5}$ sampling.



Figure 4: Black carbon concentrations in PM_{2.5} versus PM₁₀ samples from (Left) Hastings during 2022 and (Right) Westport during winter 2023. (Source: Davy and Trompetter 2023, 2024).

4. Implementing Black Carbon Monitoring in New Zealand

This chapter investigates implementing BC monitoring in New Zealand. It describes the local sources of BC, the current and historical locations and measurements. This chapter also details which regulatory authorities are planning to monitor and the associated costs to monitor using various methods.

The flow chart below (Figure 5) describes under what circumstances different techniques could be applied and the justification for this. It is noted that a basic, off-line BC analysis can already be implemented using existing PM monitoring equipment, such that for populations of < 30,000 the motivation for additional, dedicated BC monitoring may be of limited benefit.

The population thresholds selected are defined by Statistics New Zealand *Functional Urban Area (FUA)* classifications (Stats NZ, 2021). FUA's with more than 100,000 residents are classified as metropolitan areas whilst FUA with less than 30,000 residents are grouped into regional centres (small, medium and large) (Stats NZ, 2021). The three sizes of regional centres are not referred to in this report.



*Urban areas as defined by Statistics New Zealand Statistical Standard for Geographic Areas 2018 (SSGA18).

Figure 5: A flow chart describes under what circumstances different techniques could be applied and the justification for this.

4.1. Sources of Black Carbon in New Zealand

Most of the global sources outlined in Section 2.3 are also present in New Zealand, however, agricultural waste burning (stubble or scrub and tree burn offs) are intermittent and more seasonally based. Historically, thermal power stations burning fossil fuels were generally only brought into the network if necessary to cover peak power usage and this is most likely during winter or when hydro-lake storage levels are low, however emissions from thermal power stations have become more common over the past 12 months due to increased use (Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment, 2024). While forest and vegetation wildfires can release significant quantities of BC and other pollutants to atmosphere, such (accidental) fires are relatively rare and are generally aggressively managed and extinguished to prevent loss of life, property damage and to protect the forestry estate. Occasionally, New Zealand does experience the downwind effects due to emissions from Australia bushfires (Davy and Trompetter, 2020). Another category of combustion sources emitting BC are those stationary industrial heat generation plant used for manufacturing or processing and localised emergency power generation (primarily diesel powered) used to support essential facilities and services during interruptions to normal electricity supply networks.

4.2. Existing Black Carbon Monitoring in New Zealand

BC is currently being measured using a variety of different techniques around New Zealand using various online, in-situ measurements as well as offline, filter-based techniques.

4.2.1. Online Measurements

Online continuous measurement of BC is currently being undertaken at 6 sites across New Zealand. Four permanent instruments are located in major urban centres (two in Auckland) and are identified in Figure 6 (in blue). The fifth and sixth locations are temporary instruments located in Ashburton and Arrowtown respectively. All locations utilise the Magee AE33 except for Auckland's Customs Street which utilises the MetOne 1060.

4.2.2. Offline Measurements

Black carbon samples have been collected and analysed at approximately 40 sites across New Zealand, with some urban areas including multiple sites. For example, Auckland BC data includes sites at Takapuna, Henderson, Kingsland, Newmarket (Khyber Pass Road), Auckland CBD (Queen Street), Penrose and Patumahoe (40 km southwest of the CBD) as well as a sampling campaign in the Johnstone Hills tunnel north of Orewa (Davy et al., 2011a, 2014, 2017; Davy and Trompetter, 2019; Boamponsem et al, 2024).

Sites where PM has been collected for BC analysis also included PM elemental speciation with the accompanying receptor modelling and reporting. Figure 6 presents the BC sampling locations in New Zealand to date. Appendix 4 identifies the specific locations, sampling period and reporting details. Several of the PM compositional monitoring campaigns have been only during winter months in order to understand source contributions to peak winter PM concentrations for air quality management purposes.



Figure 6: Black carbon sampling locations in New Zealand. Sites in BLUE indicate continuous permanent monitoring locations, while sites in RED are collecting continuous BC data from temporary locations. Sites in BLACK and BLUE indicate the locations where offline (filter-based) measurements have been collected.

In addition to the urban monitoring locations, several studies have targeted source specific BC, these include motor vehicle tunnels (Ancelet et al., 2011a; Davy et al., 2011a) and wood burner emissions (Davy et al., 2009; Ancelet et al., 2011b) to better understand emission source characteristics including BC emissions. Most of the BC sampling and analysis campaigns have been targeted studies collecting 24-hour time integrated samples that ran for 1-2 years in order to better understand the local drivers of air pollution for air quality management purposes. The exception to this is the Auckland multi-site air particulate matter speciation database that has been running since mid-2004 and, using archived filters, the BC measurements have been extended back to 1998 at some sites providing a 25-year BC dataset. A 10-year dataset has also been compiled for Nelson monitoring sites (Nelson South and Tahunanui).

For several locations, high-resolution sampling (hourly) and analysis was undertaken as part of a research programme to better understand the observed diurnal variation in particulate matter concentrations at New Zealand urban centres (Trompetter et al., 2010; Ancelet et al., 2012, 2014a, 2014b).

4.2.3. Monitoring results from New Zealand

As discussed in Section 4.2.2, most of the BC datasets extend only for 1-2 years except for the Auckland, Wellington and Nelson sites where up to 20 years of continuous BC data is available. Figure 7 presents the BC concentration data from monitoring sites across New Zealand where at least one year of sampling was undertaken to cover concentration variations across the seasons.

High concentrations of BC are located in areas with high vehicle use (major urban centres like Auckland) and regions reliant on domestic home heating (evident in the North - South increasing gradient. Historical exceedances of the WHO PM_{2.5} AAQG in Takapuna, Penrose, Christchurch and Timaru can wholly be attributable to BC. For further detailed analysis please refer to *Heavy metals, black carbon and natural sources of particulate matter in New Zealand* (Davy and Trompetter, 2018).



Figure 7: Filter-based offline BC concentrations measured at NZ monitoring locations. The red line represents the WHO $PM_{2.5}$ AAQG of 15 μ g m⁻³.

4.2.4. Future Black Carbon Monitoring

As part of this report, a questionnaire was sent to all regional Councils and Unitary Authorities in New Zealand. A summary of responses is attached as Appendix 5 and is summarised below:

- Of the 16 Councils who responded, 10 are not considering permanent BC monitoring in the future.
- Auckland Council is planning to extend their current programme, adding a multiwavelength aethalometer at Mount Victoria, Devonport in late 2025.
- The Hawkes Bay Regional Council air quality team intend to implement BC monitoring when they can secure the necessary funding and resourcing but that won't be until at least 2027/2028
- Waikato Regional Council is committed to continuous BC monitoring as part of the council's long term monitoring plan but have been waiting for more guidance around its use and recommendations on instruments, servicing and calibration.
- Otago Regional Council staff believe it would be beneficial to monitor at 3 or 4 of their air quality monitoring stations but due to cost and lack of guidelines and standards is unlikely to be a priority compared to other air quality monitoring projects.
- Environment Canterbury will consider monitoring BC in more areas if existing data show it is useful for tracking change in combustion emissions and for differentiating between sources.

4.3. Cost to Monitor Black Carbon

This section describes the costs associated with monitoring BC with online and offline measurements. Costs have been broken down into capital expenditure (CAPEX), and annual operating expenditure (OPEX) (consumables and labour) for implementing a monitoring programme within a jurisdictional area. The associated costs are estimates as of May 2024 and will be subject to change due to inflation, currency fluctuations, changes in the price of goods, and in costs associated with time attributed to tasks (e.g. filter changes, maintenance). Travel expenses are not included. Labour costs associated with tape replacement and servicing and operation of the instrument have been estimated at one day per quarter.

These costs assume an existing air-conditioned monitoring location with mains power available to house the instrument and that the digital output can be coupled to an existing data logger at the site. Costs do not take into consideration the time already allocated to perform maintenance on other equipment at existing stations. Low-cost/portable/handheld devices, which can sometimes be used for screening purposes have been considered in Section 4.3.3.

4.3.1. Online Instrumentation

Table 3 considers the costs of purchasing new instruments (multi or dual wavelength aethalometers along with ongoing OPEX costs which includes estimates for filter tapes, quarterly and annual servicing. Three detailed examples for multiwavelength aethalometers are also provide in Table 4. Areas with very high winter BC concentrations may require a tape change every 3 weeks. However, for most sites in New Zealand monthly changes are adequate during the winter and tapes may last up to three months during summer periods.

Table 3: Costs to purchase and operate (for one year) multi-wavelength aethalometers.

Instrument	Multiwavelength Aethalometer	Dual wavelength Aethalometer
CAPEX*	~\$50,000 - \$70,000	~\$20,000 - \$40,000
Shipping	\$2,000	\$1,000
OPEX (consumables)	~\$4,800 - \$10,000	\$3,600 - \$6,000
OPEX (labour, data processing, maintenance – 3 quarterly services, 1 annual service)	\$5,000	\$5,000

^{*}does not include GST

These costs can be further broken down in detail for specific instruments below:

Table 4: Detailed costs to purchase and operate various common brands of multi-wavelength aethalometers.

	Magee AE33 (multi-	MetOne BC1054	MetOne BC1060
CAPEX COST	wavelength)	(multi-	(dual
	, indication gain,	wavelength)	wavelength)
Instrument	\$60,000	\$56,000	\$30,000
Shipping	\$2,000	\$2,000	\$1,000
GST	\$9,000	\$8,400	\$4,500
CAPEX TOTAL	\$71,000	\$66,400	\$35,500
	Magaa AE22 (multi	MetOne BC1054	MetOne BC1060
OPEX COST	Magee AESS (mulli-	(multi-	(dual
	wavelength)	wavelength)	wavelength)
	\$1250 per tape, 8	\$600 per tape, 8	\$400 per tape, 8
Replacement tape [*]	per year	per year	per year
	\$10,000	\$4,800	\$3,600
Replacement			
screen/filters and	\$200	\$200	\$200
silicon			
Pump service kit	\$350	\$350	\$350
OPEX (labour, data			
processing,	# F 000	AF 000	#F 000
maintenance – 3	\$5,000	\$5,000 \$5,000	\$5,000
quarterly, 1 annual)			
ANNUAL OPEX	* 45 550	\$40.0F0	*• • •
TOTAL	\$15,550	\$10,350	\$9,150

4.3.2. Offline Instrumentation

Table 5 below considers the costs of purchasing offline instrumentation to perform analysis. It is assumed that an existing PM sampling instrument is available. Commonly used PM sample instruments include Thermo Partisol and the Met One E-SEQ which can collect 16 samples unattended. The primary costs associated with offline analysis include filter purchase, labour associated with filter replacement and the BC filter analysis costs. Costs include ongoing OPEX costs such as estimates for filter changes but do not include the maintenance of equipment. To implement PM sampling equipment, and for ongoing maintenance, estimates would be similar to *Multiwavelength* Aethalometer prices in Table 3. Pre-sampled filters using could also be sent to a lab for BC analysis with cost estimates between \$20-30 per filter (depending on frequency and volume). Various filter media may be used (polycarbonate, PTFE, glass fibre, quartz), however, the choice of filter will impact or determine what further analyses may be performed.

Sample Routine	1 day in 3 (122 filters)	1 day in 6 (61 filters)		
CAPEX (MABI/SSR)	~ \$10,000 - 20,000			
OPEX (filter changes (labour) –	\$2,000	\$1,000		
excludes travel)	(eight site visits)	(four site visits)		
OPEX (filters)				
a) PTFE	a) \$2,860	a) \$1,430		
b) polycarbonate	b) \$600	b) \$300		
OPEX (BC filter analysis)	\$2,600 - \$3,900	\$1,250 - \$1,950		

Table 5: Detailed costs to run a filter-based monitoring programme for the analysis of BC using existing PM monitoring instruments.

4.3.3. Low-cost/portable/handheld

a variety of low-cost portable aethalometers are now available in the market. These range in price from \$10,000 - \$25,000 depending on the model. Portable instruments usually have smaller filter rolls which require extra site visits to replace them. Portable instruments may not have a weatherproof enclosure or telemetry which will add to the set-up costs. An advantage of some of these smaller portable devices is the ability to locate them on lampposts for screening assessments such as the one completed by Greater Wellington Regional Council investigating emissions from the changing bus fleet (Mitchell, 2021). However, be mindful of the added costs for traffic management and associated health and safety when installing smaller portable instruments up lampposts/near roadways due to the proximity to vehicle traffic. As these devices aren't always housed in a conditioned environment, artifacts associated with temperature and humidity may increase measurement uncertainty.

4.3.4. Project Based Scenarios

Although outright costs for new instrumentation are outlined above, in most cases it may not be realistic for regulatory authorities to implement BC monitoring due to budgetary constraints. In addition, the management of their airshed may might not require permanent, long-term instrumentation to be installed.

Therefore, we have estimated the costs for three different monitoring programmes, based on specific problems, to provide a 'real-world' estimate. Estimated costs are based on monitoring at one site with the costs of additional sites calculated by multiplying the number of sites by the estimated rental charges.

4.3.4.1. Scenario 1

A coastal regional town with a population of 35,000 which continues to exceed the NES-AQ for PM_{10} (in the winter) would like to track emissions from domestic home heating.

In this situation, a short (3-month) winter monitoring programme could be implemented to monitor BC. Monitoring could comprise renting an aethalometer or via filter sampling (sampling 1 day in 3).

- 1. Aethalometer monthly instrument rental at one site would range from \$2,500 (dual channel aethalometer) to \$5,000 (multi-channel aethalometer). Total costs of the 3-month monitoring programme would be between \$7,500 and \$15,000.
- 2. Monthly instrument rental of a multi-filter sampler (Partisol or similar) at one site would start at \$2,000. Approximately 51 filters would be collected with 1 filter cartridge change per month. The estimated cost would be \$1,000 for filter changes, \$1,100 for analysis and \$6,000 for instrument rental, totalling \$8,100 for a winter monitoring campaign.

It is important to remember the differences in data that each approach will provide. The Aethalometer will produce high time-resolution data could be used to differentiate diurnal patterns and imply source contributions. The filter-based approach will give you some information about BC which is likely to be aggregated over the same period as your PM sampling system (in most cases 24-hours). Note that 51 samples is not enough samples for a multi-elemental analysis for receptor modelling. The samples could be analysed with the MABI instrument to imply source contributions. Gravimetry or other analysis could be undertaken on archived filters.

4.3.4.2. Scenario 2

A major urban centre would like to track emissions from motor vehicles and contributions from domestic home heating in the winter.

In this situation, site selection would be driven by existing data from existing PM monitoring, traffic data or modelling results. The recommendation would be to implement a permanent instrument as part of an ongoing monitoring campaign at either one or multiple sites.

The costs associated with this would be similar to Table 3, with an estimated CAPEX cost of ~\$50,000 - \$70,000 for a multi-wavelength aethalometer or ~\$20,000 - \$40,000 for a dual wavelength aethalometer. Consumables and maintenance are estimated to be between \$9,000 - \$16,000 per annum. The costs of ongoing maintenance may be less if combined with the service and maintenance program of the existing instruments at the monitoring station.

4.3.4.3. Scenario 3

A regulatory authority already performing 1 day in 3 filter sampling for gravimetric analysis, using a PM_{2.5} low-volume sampler (Partisol or similar) would like to understand BC contributions in their airshed.

In this scenario, existing filters could be sent to a lab on an ongoing basis for \$20 - 30 per filter. Based on a 1 day in 3 sample with 122 filters per year, analysis costs could range from \$2,440 - \$3,660 per year. Based on a 1 day in 6 sample with 61 filters per year, analysis costs could range from \$1,300 - \$1,900 per year.

5. Benefits of Introducing Monitoring to Jurisdictional Programme

This chapter details the links to existing pollutants and monitoring programmes and what the additional benefits of monitoring are for jurisdictions.

5.1. Links to Other Pollutants

In most regulatory long-term applications, the Magee AE33 is the instrument of choice. All criteria pollutants (O_3 , CO, PM₁₀, PM_{2.5}, NO₂, SO₂) were commonly measured alongside a colocated BC instrument (Patel et al., 2020; Kertész et al., 2024). In a New Zealand context, this is not necessarily feasible due to budgetary constraints.

However, in most cases, BC should be monitored at peak sites with other pollutants associated with combustion activity (i.e. NO_2 , $PM_{2.5}$, CO and SO_2). For example: a) at peak traffic sites, BC should be monitored with NO_2 ; b) at peak domestic home heating sites, BC should be monitored with PM_{10} , but preferably $PM_{2.5}$. If emissions from ports, coal-fired power stations or fertiliser works are an issue, BC should be monitored alongside SO_2 . Figure 8 below presents results from Councils and Unitary Authorities on their preferences for co-located pollutant monitoring NO_2 , PM_{10} and $PM_{2.5}$ are the most common response for pollutants that the survey participants consider should be monitored alongside BC monitoring.



Figure 8: Results from Councils and Unitary Authorities on their preferences for co-located pollutant monitoring.

Black carbon tracks well with other pollutants like $PM_{2.5}$ The ratio of in the BC to $PM_{2.5}$ ratio in the long-term Auckland dataset (Figure 9), has remained constant at approximately 40% for the 2006 – 2016 period and indicates that combustion sources are a key driver of $PM_{2.5}$ concentrations in Auckland (Boamponsem et al., 2024). The ratio of BC to $PM_{2.5}$ at other locations in New Zealand ranges from 15 to 45% and contrasts European and North American cities where ratios of BC to $PM_{2.5}$ (annual averages) ranged from 5-10% (Li et al., 2016).



Figure 9: TheilSen trend showing the ratio of BC to PM_{2.5} from the Auckland. Statistically significant to 99.9% confidence interval.

5.2. Benefits of Monitoring

There are a number of benefits of monitoring BC in your jurisdiction. The most significant across the literature includes tracking BC sources in real-time to track the effectiveness of policy interventions targeting domestic home heating and traffic. As BC is a tracer of urban combustion sources, it also represents the atmospheric burden of ultrafine PM emitted from such combustion sources along with its consequent health burdens (Li et al., 2016; Luben et al., 2017).

Along with BC analysis from filter samples, additional elemental analysis and receptor modelling can be performed. A direct result of using this technique is that the sources of BC (or any other variable) can be derived and the mass contribution of each BC emission source to atmospheric BC concentrations determined (Appendix 6). The most substantive and informative activity is the multi-site, multi-year speciation network in Auckland where PM samples for BC and elemental analysis have been collected continuously since 2004 (Davy et al., 2014, 2017; Davy and Trompetter, 2019; Boamponsem et al., 2024The Auckland data shows that motor vehicles (diesel engines) are the primary emission source of black carbon with solid fuel fire emissions a significant source during winter months (Boamponsem et al., 2024).

Offline methods provide an in-depth understanding of the PM load within respective airsheds and can provide clear evidence if a peak PM value was likely to be associated with an anthropogenic emission source (and therefore manageable); was primarily in the PM_{2.5} size fraction (with greater health impacts); or was more likely to be associated with a natural PM

event. Identification of the source(s) contributing to a peak PM event is important if the PM_{10} NESAQ was exceeded. An exemption for exceptional events may be granted if the source of the exceedance was outside the control of the regulatory authority (Reg 16A, NES-AQ, 2004).

The average BC source contribution data from New Zealand monitoring sites reflects the dichotomy of motor vehicle BC emissions dominating at locations with higher traffic volumes while the influence of winter combustion emissions from residential heating drives BC concentrations in smaller urban centres and cities in the South Island as presented in Figure 10. The ability to discern sources from the two most dominant contributors of PM/BC provides air quality managers with better information that can be used to reduce and mitigate emissions from these sources.



Figure 10: Average source contributions to BC concentrations at New Zealand monitoring sites in the North Island (top) and South Island (bottom).

5.3. Practicality of Measurement

There are a number of barriers when it comes to practical measurement of BC monitoring in New Zealand jurisdiction. We had responses from all 16 Councils; the following is a summary of the key barriers as seen from a Council perspective:

Councils were asked about barriers to carrying out BC monitoring in New Zealand jurisdiction as part of the survey described in Section 1.3. The survey response from all 16 Councils are summarised below:

- The first and most crucial point was funding. Councils were unable to ascertain how they would fund monitoring when they already struggle to fund their current air quality monitoring programmes.
- It was suggested that if BC monitoring was introduced by the Ministry, it should be funded by Central Government. Public health and research grants were also suggested as sources of funding.
- There is currently a lack of standards and guidelines, therefore it is seen as a 'no need' to monitor BC.
- The fact that New Zealand still doesn't have a PM_{2.5} standard which most OECD nations had in place for over a decade was also concerning.
- It wasn't only the cost of CAPEX and ongoing OPEX that was of concern. It was voiced that most Councils lack the staff and expertise to process, analyse, and report BC data, especially the source apportionment data analysis. There would need to be significant upskilling on the Councils behalf.
- Reporting of data was also raised, with questions about the comparability of data from different instruments due to different algorithms, the changing algorithms in firmware updates and the changes in mass absorption coefficients within air sheds.

6. Emissions Inventories & Long-Term Trends

This chapter provides comments on emissions inventories and how they are calculated from emissions factors. The latter part of chapter investigates emissions inventories from New Zealand (from an international study) and links it with observed measurement trends over the same period in Auckland.

6.1. Emissions Inventories

Emissions inventories are an essential tool when it comes to managing and regulating air pollution. They enhance our understanding of the ways in which sources of air pollution contribute to an airshed and their potential impact on people and the environment. Sources within inventories can be categorised into point source, area sources, mobile sources. They are generally a 'bottom up' approach (Crimmins et al., 2019). They provide an estimate of the total amount of air pollution, usually for specific pollutants generated from all sources and provide pertinent information relevant for policy development to mitigate air pollution. Emissions inventories do not take into account how the atmospheric chemistry might change the pollutant loading with time.

Bottom-up emission inventories are calculated by using emission factors for the categories mentioned above multiplied by specific activity data (e.g. tonnes of raw material processed; units manufactured by an industrial source; or vehicle kilometres travelled (VKT) by motor vehicles). Throughout the literature it is well known that emissions inventories are subject to high uncertainty due to the associated uncertainty in data that feeds approximations and models. Inventories also do not consider the effect of varying topography or meteorology may act to reduce or enhance dispersion. These uncertainties and averaging of both emissions factors and activity data across a source category may reduce the utility of emissions inventories for air quality management purposes. Quite often, output from an emissions inventory is on a tonnes of pollutant/year basis. Temporal resolution may be improved to a tonnes/pollutant/typical winter or summer day, or alternatively, a weekday/weekend difference. However, as the estimations and temporal resolution of emissions inventories are improved there is a consequent increase in the cost of compiling the inventory.

Inventories have been calculated internationally at different scales (global, regional, national) and consistency across findings identifies major BC emissions are attributable to combustion activities. These include the combustion of fossil fuels (diesel, petrol, coal) as well as biomass and open burning (including wildfires) as well as aviation (Xu et al., 2021).

6.2. New Zealand Emissions Inventories

Although inventories have been collated for other criteria air pollutants across New Zealand, there are no specific and robust inventories for BC specifically for New Zealand (Crimmins et al., 2019; Ministry for the Environment & Stats NZ, 2020; Patel et al., 2020). However, Xu et al., (2021) estimated global emissions from 1960-2017 using updated activities and emissions factors for 73 sources across a 0.1 x 0.1 spatial resolution. They estimated global anthropogenic emissions in 2017 to be 6.2 Tg with a 50% uncertainty level (4.8 - 8.3 Tg). The 50% uncertainty was also apportioned to emissions inventories compiled for Auckland (Crimmins et al., 2019). Although Xu et al., (2021) did not specifically comment on New Zealand, they did provide their data in the supplementary information, across 5 key sources (energy sector, industrial, residential, on-road motor vehicles, other anthropogenic and wildfires). Emissions inventory data used in this chapter is from Xu et al., (2021). A detailed breakdown of emissions from the various sources can be found in Table 6.

Table 6: New Zealand's BC emissions (estimate from emissions inventories) across five anthropogenic sectors as well as wildfires in 2017.

Sector	Emissions in 2017 (Gg)
Energy Sector	0.002
Industrial	1.520
Residential	0.614
On-road motor vehicles	2.750
Other anthropogenic	0.020
Without Wildfires	4.907
Wildfires	0.234
With Wildfires	5.141

Wildfire emissions were estimated to be the fourth largest contribution to BC in New Zealand in 2017 with 0.23 Gg. However, forest and vegetation wildfires are relatively rare. Occasionally, New Zealand does experience the downwind effects due to emissions from Australia bushfires (Davy and Trompetter, 2020). It is an important finding which has important implications for New Zealand, especially as climatic extremes make the prevalence of wildfires more likely (Langer et al., 2021; IPCC, 2023).

Figure 11 demonstrates totals emissions over from 2002 – 2017. Overall emissions of BC have been decreasing until 2008 after which they increase slightly and then plateau. Looking at sector specific emissions, although motor emissions vehicles have been decreasing, this is being offset by increasing industrial emissions from 2009 onwards. Prior to this they were relatively stable. Residential emissions have been relatively stable over the period apart from a decrease in 2008 after which they then plateaued.



Energy Sector Industrial Residential On-road motor vehicles Other anthropogenic Wildfires

Figure 11: Emissions factors for BC from five main sectors (energy, industrial, residential, on-road motor vehicles, other anthropogenic and wildfires between 2002 and 2017.

6.3. Anthropogenic Emissions

Figure 12a demonstrates estimated anthropogenic emissions for New Zealand from Xu et al., (2021). Emissions have steadily declined from 6 Gg in 2002 to a minimum of 4.3 Gg in 2011. Emissions stopped decreasing and have been increasing slowly between 2011 and 2017 to 4.91 Gg. Emissions have been decreasing at a rate of 0.07 Gg yr⁻¹. BC concentrations measured across Auckland (Figure 12b), at multiple sites, have been steadily decreasing from 5 ng m⁻³ to their 2017 concentration of 2 ng m⁻³. The plateau observed in total emissions from the inventories is not reflected in atmospheric monitoring data.

More detailed analysis of on-road transport, domestic, home heating and industrial components are investigated Sections 6.3.1, 6.3.2 and 6.3.3 respectively.



Figure 12: TheilSen trend showing decreasing anthropogenic BC emissions from New Zealand (a) and decreasing BC measured concentrations across the Auckland region (b) from 2002 - 2017. Statistically significant to 99.9% confidence interval.

6.3.1. On-road Transport

The following section includes the analysis of BC emissions inventories from on-road motor vehicles (across New Zealand) and measured concentrations from Auckland from Xu et al., (2021). Motor vehicles are the most dominant source of BC emissions, estimated to contribute 2.8 Gg in 2017. Emissions have been falling by 0.5 Gg yr⁻¹ (Figure 13a). A similar trend is observed in atmospheric BC concentrations across Auckland (Figure 13b), with concentrations falling from 3.8 to 2.8 ng m⁻³. A slowing or plateau of concentrations between the 2014-2017 period is evident in both the emissions inventories and measured concentrations in Auckland. Concentrations over the 2006 – 2017 period have been decreasing at approximately 140 ng yr⁻¹. The key driver of the decrease in BC at Auckland sites has been improvements in motor vehicle tailpipe emissions (primarily diesel fuelled vehicles) (Boamponsem et al, 2024).



Figure 13: TheilSen trend showing decreasing motor vehicle BC emissions from New Zealand (a) and decreasing motor vehicle associated BC concentrations measured across the Auckland region (b) from 2002 - 2017. Statistically significant to 99.9% confidence interval.

In New Zealand, emissions from motor vehicles are estimated by the vehicle emissions prediction model (VEPM). This model predicts emissions using average speed under typical road, traffic and operating conditions. VEPM estimates tailpipe emissions factors for CO, HC, NO_x , CO_2 and PM, as well as non-tailpipe emissions. BC emissions themselves are still not covered by VEPM but as seen above, BC emissions from vehicle exhaust are the most dominant component of BC emissions in the Xu et al., (2021) inventory for NZ. The composition of the vehicle fleet is the most important factor driving emissions. New Zealand has one of the oldest fleets in the OECD, with the average age of vehicles double the age of those in comparable cities (Environmental Health Intelligence New Zealand, 2024). Although vehicle emissions standards have been improving, the benefit to air quality has been outweighed by the increasing number of vehicles in use in NZ. The Auckland ambient BC source apportionment dataset supports this, with diesel vehicle PM_{2.5} BC/PM ratios ranging from 0.6 to 0.9 on a mass basis depending on monitoring site location. Approximately 40% of all PM_{2.5} in Auckland is composed of BC, this ratio has been relatively stable over the last 20 years, highlighting that improvement in vehicle emissions standards is not being reflected in BC contribution to PM_{2.5},

One of the largest uncertainties in vehicle emissions factors information used in the VEPM is that while tests are usually performed in the lab on dynamometers, real-world emissions can vary significantly due to changes in road gradients and vehicle loads.

6.3.2. Domestic Home Heating (Biomass & Coal)

The following section includes analysis of residential BC emissions from Xu et al., (2021) and domestic home heating BC concentrations measured across Auckland. Residential emissions are the third largest contributor out of the five sectors. BC emissions are estimated to contribute 0.61 Gg in 2017 and have been falling by 0.3 Gg yr⁻¹. After falling to a minimum in 2011, emissions rose slightly, then fell again to their 2011 level (Figure 14a). Unlike on-road motor vehicles, the trend is not realised in BC monitoring data from Auckland (Figure 14b). BC concentrations from Domestic home heating have been rising slowly by 4.3 ng yr⁻¹ over the same period. Measured concentrations have roughly doubled over that time, increasing from 60 ng m⁻³ to 100 ng m⁻³. The reason for this is unknown, but a surprising result.



Figure 14: TheilSen trend showing decreasing residential BC emissions across New Zealand (a) an increasing biomass combustion associated BC concentrations measured across the Auckland region (b) from 2002 - 2017. Statistically significant to 99.9% confidence interval.

6.3.3. Industry

Industrial emissions can be a significant source of BC in New Zealand especially in relation to power generation, industrial combustion for heating and other commercial activities such as construction and ports. Emissions from industry were relatively stable from 2002 - 2008 (around 0.9 Gg). After 2000, concentrations were estimated to be steadily increasing from 0.9 to 1.5 Gg in 2017. Estimates of BC emissions from dedicated industrial combustion plant used for generating heat can be relatively straightforward for classes of facility (gas, coal, diesel, residual oil, biomass) or individual units as these can be stack-tested under operating conditions or may already have the data as part of plant design or resource consent conditions. In most cases combustion conditions will be maximised for efficiency to minimise fuel costs, but facilities such as gas flaring (mainly associated with gas and oil extraction, refining facilities or landfills) form a different category.

The open-flame nature of gas flaring distinguishes it from industrial point- sources; the high temperature, flame control, and spatial compactness distinguishes gas flaring from both biomass burning and domestic fuel-use (Fawole et al. 2016). Therefore, emission inventories for the soot yield from gas flaring should consider the variation of fuel gas composition and combustion characteristics. The high-temperature nature of industrial combustion facilities coupled with the height of the stack enables some of the BC to escape further into the free troposphere aiding long-range transport, atmospheric residence times and therefore enhance the potential for climate impacts (Fawole et al. 2016).

Other industrial sources include those construction, shipping and aviation. Some of these sources have significant impact on local BC concentrations with reported exceedances of the NES-AQ from unregulated construction equipment and shipping in Auckland and Tauranga (Boamponsem et al, 2024). Most of these activities are likely to involve combustion of diesel fuels and fuel usage statistics indicate that off-road activities account for around 40% of diesel consumption in New Zealand.

A US study found that, as on-road engine emissions have been controlled, the relative importance of off-road sources has grown (McDonald et al. 2015). For example, in 1970 approximately 90% of BC emissions were from on-road sources; by 2010, off-road engines were estimated to account for $37 \pm 20\%$ of total mobile source contributions to BC in the Los Angeles area (McDonald et al. 2015). The US study highlights both the success of efforts to control on-road emission sources, and the importance of considering off-road engine and other source contributions when assessing future BC emissions and ambient air quality trends. A study by Patel et al. (2023) also highlighted the impact of unregulated construction activities and building ventilation system emissions impacting Auckland's air quality.

7. Summary

This report details the feasibility of BC monitoring in New Zealand. BC is a term given to sootlike atmospheric aerosols and a constituent of PM. Internationally, the impact of BC on the environment and human health is not well understood. In New Zealand BC is derived primarily from the combustion of fossil fuels and domestic home heating. In-line with WHO recommendations, systematic measurement should be undertaken. Optical methods using aethalometers are international best practice however, measurement using offline reflectometers and transmissometers are a commonly accepted method.

The size of a jurisdiction will ultimately define the appropriate method for BC analysis. Feedback from regulatory authorities highlighted: the lack of a standard, limited funds and limited skill within existing teams with more guidance and support required to upskill.

It was suggested that BC be monitored alongside other pollutants associated with combustion activity (i.e. NO_2 , $PM_{2.5}$, CO and SO_2). BC should be monitored with PM_{10} , although more preferably with $PM_{2.5}$. For example: a) at peak traffic sites, BC should be monitored with NO_2 ; b) at peak domestic home heating sites, BC should be monitored with PM_{10} , but preferably $PM_{2.5}$. If shipping emissions are an issue BC should be monitored alongside SO_2 .

Online multi-wavelength aethalometers can be purchased and operated (for one year) for approximately \$45,000 - \$86,000 (depending on instrumentation and ancillary infrastructure). Consumables cost \$10,000 - \$15,000 p.a. (from year two onwards). Offline measurement devices such as the MABI or SSR can be purchased for approximately \$10,000 - \$20,000. Samples collected using in-situ PM monitoring instruments can then be processed for an extra \$5,000 - \$10,000 depending on sampling regime (1 day in 3) or (1 day in 6). A BC specific seasonal monitoring programme could be performed with rental instruments for between \$7,500 and \$15,000, otherwise added to an ongoing PM monitoring programme for an additional \$2,000 - \$4,000.

A large benefit of aethalometers is their ability to deliver high time-resolution data and perform in-situ source apportionment to enable air quality managers to evaluate sources within their airsheds and develop more effective and targeted mitigation strategies. Offline methods can provide source information but at much lower time resolution.

Black carbon emissions inventories highlighted on-road motor vehicles as being the largest source, with industry and residential sources the second and third largest contributors respectively. Total BC emissions were trending down until 2008, after which, they have increased slightly, and then plateaued. These trends have been ascribed to decreases in motor vehicle emissions that have subsequently been offset by increasing industrial emissions from 2009 onwards.

Recommended next steps for monitoring BC in New Zealand are outlined in Section 8.

8. Recommendations

This feasibility report has outlined the need for systematic measurement of BC with various techniques and methods suited for different situations. In line with WHO recommendations, presented here are a number of feasible monitoring options, for jurisdictions of different sizes, that can be implemented to support WHO Good Practice objectives. Recommendations are as follows:

- a) The recommended technique for quantifying BC concentrations within a regulatory setting is based on optical methods that include. aethalometers, reflectometers or transmissometers. For larger jurisdictions (population ~100,000) it is recommended that continuous monitoring be performed at peak sites using continuous multi-wavelength aethalometers. For smaller jurisdictions (population ~30,000), seasonal surveys using aethalometers may be better suited, during episodic pollution periods (i.e. winter when domestic heating emissions are at their highest). Offline analysis may also be performed on PM samples (collected with a separate PM sampling system) in-line with a screening assessment or as part of a wider monitoring programme.
- b) The report highlighted variability in instrument algorithms and data output. It is recommended that systematic testing is undertaken to understand algorithms and differences in MAC used by various instrument manufacturers in New Zealand. This also includes testing in various climatic conditions and under variable source contributions to understand the variability of instrument responses.
- c) It is recommended that supporting guidance is provided to regulatory authorities to undertake monitoring. Guidance should be developed to assist with data QA/QC, data interpretation (i.e. source apportionment) and reporting of data to provide national consistency.
- d) Emissions factors for BC are not well understood within a New Zealand context therefore it is recommended that future research focusses on determining the applicability of overseas emissions factors for New Zealand and/or develop local emissions factors for New Zealand scenarios where there is insufficient data from existing emissions factors. Industrial and offroad emissions inventories should be further investigated and developed.
- e) Vehicle Emissions Prediction Model (VEPM) should be updated to include BC including with non-tail pipe emissions (from road and tyre wear).

9. References

Allen, J.O., Mayo, P.R., Hughes, L.S., Salmon, L.G., Cass, G.R., 2001. Emissions of Size-Segregated Aerosols from On-Road Vehicles in the Caldecott Tunnel. Environ. Sci. Technol. 35, 4189–4197. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0015545

Ancelet, T., Davy, P.K., Mitchell, T., Trompetter, W.J., Markwitz, A., Weatherburn, D.C., 2012. Identification of Particulate Matter Sources on an Hourly Time-Scale in a Wood Burning Community. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 4767–4774. https://doi.org/10.1021/es203937y

Ancelet, T., Davy, P.K., Trompetter, W.J., Markwitz, A., Weatherburn, D.C., 2014a. Particulate matter sources on an hourly timescale in a rural community during the winter. Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association 64, 501–508. https://doi.org/10.1080/10962247.2013.813414

Ancelet, T., Davy, P.K., Trompetter, W.J., Markwitz, A., Weatherburn, D.C., 2014b. Sources and transport of particulate matter on an hourly time-scale during the winter in a New Zealand urban valley. Urban Climate 10, 644–655. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.uclim.2014.06.003

Ancelet, T., Davy, P.K., Trompetter, W.J., Markwitz, A., Weatherburn, D.C., 2013. Carbonaceous aerosols in a wood burning community in rural New Zealand. Atmospheric Pollution Research 4, 245–249. https://doi.org/10.5094/APR.2013.026

Ancelet, T., Davy, P.K., Trompetter, W.J., Markwitz, A., Weatherburn, D.C., 2011a. Characterisation of Particulate Matter Emissions from a Modern Wood Burner under Varying Burner Conditions. Air Quality and Climate Change 45.

Ancelet, T., Davy, P.K., Trompetter, W.J., Markwitz, A., Weatherburn, D.C., 2011b. Carbonaceous aerosols in an urban tunnel. Atmospheric Environment 45, 4463–4469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2011.05.032

Bista, S., Chatzidiakou, L., Jones, R.L., Benmarhnia, T., Postel-Vinay, N., Chaix, B., 2023. Associations of air pollution mixtures with ambulatory blood pressure: The MobiliSense sensorbased study. Environmental Research 227, 115720. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2023.115720

Boamponsem, L.K., Hopke, P.K., Davy, P.K., 2024. Long-term trends and source apportionment of fine particulate matter (PM_{2.5}) and gaseous pollutants in Auckland, New Zealand. Atmospheric Environment 322, 120392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2024.120392

Bond, T.C., Bergstrom, R.W., 2006. Light Absorption by Carbonaceous Particles: An InvestigativeReview.AerosolScienceandTechnology40,27–67.https://doi.org/10.1080/02786820500421521

Bond, T.C., Doherty, S.J., Fahey, D.W., Forster, P.M., Berntsen, T., DeAngelo, B.J., Flanner, M.G., Ghan, S., Kärcher, B., Koch, D., Kinne, S., Kondo, Y., Quinn, P.K., Sarofim, M.C., Schultz, M.G., Schulz, M., Venkataraman, C., Zhang, H., Zhang, S., Bellouin, N., Guttikunda, S.K., Hopke, P.K., Jacobson, M.Z., Kaiser, J.W., Klimont, Z., Lohmann, U., Schwarz, J.P., Shindell, D., Storelvmo, T., Warren, S.G., Zender, C.S., 2013. Bounding the role of black carbon in the climate system: A scientific assessment. JGR Atmospheres 118, 5380–5552. https://doi.org/10.1002/jgrd.50171

Briggs, N.L., Long, C.M., 2016. Critical review of black carbon and elemental carbon source apportionment in Europe and the United States. Atmospheric Environment 144, 409–427. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2016.09.002

Cape, J.N., Coyle, M., Dumitrean, P., 2012. The atmospheric lifetime of black carbon. Atmospheric Environment 59, 256–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2012.05.030

Ciupek, K., McGhee, E., Tompkins, J., Williams, K., Brown, A., Butterfield, D., Karimi, C., Allerton, J., Bradshaw, C., Buckley, P., Lilley, A., Robins, C., Sweeney, B., Brown, R., Quincey, P., Sims, A., Priestman, M., Font Font, A., Fuller, G., Green, D., Tremper, A., 2022. Airborne particle concentrations, particle numbers and black carbon in the United Kingdom - annual report 2020. National Physical Laboratory. https://doi.org/10.47120/npl.ENV42

Correa-Ochoa, M.A., Bedoya, R., Gómez, L.M., Aguiar, D., Palacio-Tobón, C.A., Colorado, H.A., 2023. A Review on the Characterization and Measurement of the Carbonaceous Fraction of Particulate Matter. Sustainability 15, 8717. https://doi.org/10.3390/su15118717

Crimmins, P., Dirks, K., Salmond, J., 2019. The challenge of quantifying black carbon emissions: A case study from Auckland, New Zealand. Air Quality and Climate Change 53, 12–18.

Cuesta-Mosquera, A., Glojek, K., Močnik, G., Drinovec, L., Gregorič, A., Rigler, M., Ogrin, M., Romshoo, B., Weinhold, K., Merkel, M., van Pinxteren, D., Herrmann, H., Wiedensohler, A., Pöhlker, M., Müller, T., 2024. Optical properties and simple forcing efficiency of the organic aerosols and black carbon emitted by residential wood burning in rural central Europe. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 24, 2583–2605. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-24-2583-2024

Davy, P.K., Ancelet, T., 2015. Characterisation of nanoparticle aerosol emissions from Australian bushfires (GNS Science Consultancy Report No. 2015/67). Institute of Geological and Nuclear Sciences, Lower Hutt (NZ).

Davy, P.K., Ancelet, T., Tompetter, T., Markwitz, A., 2017. Source apportionment and trend analysis of air particulate matter in the Auckland region (Auckland Council technical report No. TR2017/001). Prepared by the Institute of Geological and Nuclear Sciences Ltd, GNS Science for Auckland Council.

Davy, P.K., Ancelet, T., Trompetter, W.J., Markwitz, A., Weatherburn, D.C., 2012. Composition and source contributions of air particulate matter pollution in a New Zealand suburban town. Atmospheric Pollution Research 3, 143–147. https://doi.org/10.5094/APR.2012.014

Davy, P.K., Markwitz, A., Weatherburn, D.C., 2007. Composition, size and morphological comparison of wood smoke particles from source emissions and in urban air by SEM-EDS., in: Proc. 14th International Union of Air Pollution Prevention and Environmental Protection Associations (IUAPPA) World Congress 2007. Presented at the 18th Clean Air Society of Australia and New Zealand (CASANZ) Conf., Brisbane, QLD.

Davy ,P.K., Trompetter, W.J., 2018. Heavy metals, black carbon and natural sources of particulate matter in New Zealand. (GNS Science Consultancy Report No. 2017/238). Institute of Geological and Nuclear Sciences, Lower Hutt (NZ).

Davy, P.K., Trompetter, W.J., 2020. Compositional analysis of airborne particulate matter samples associated with 6 December 2019 NESAQ PM₁₀ exceedance. GNS Science Consultancy Report No. 2020/09). Institute of Geological and Nuclear Sciences, Lower Hutt (NZ).

Davy, P.K., Trompetter, W.J., 2024. Air particulate matter composition and sources at Westport. (GNS Science Consultancy Report No. 2024/25). Institute of Geological and Nuclear Sciences, Lower Hutt (NZ).

Davy, P.K., Trompetter, W.J., 2023. Air particulate matter composition and sources of air pollution in Hastings. (GNS Science Consultancy Report No. 2023/76). Institute of Geological and Nuclear Sciences, Lower Hutt (NZ).

Davy, P.K., Trompetter, W.J., 2019. Composition, sources and long-term trends for Auckland air particulate matter: Summary Report. (GNS Science Consultancy Report No. 2019/151). Institute of Geological and Nuclear Sciences, Lower Hutt (NZ).

Davy, P.K., Trompetter, W.J., Ancelet, T., Markwitz, A., 2014. Source apportionment and trend analysis of air particulate matter in the Auckland region (GNS Science Consultancy Report No. 2014/194). Institute of Geological and Nuclear Sciences, Lower Hutt (NZ).

Davy, P.K., Trompetter, W.J., Markwitz, A., 2011a. Concentration, composition and sources of particulate matter in the Johnstone Hills Tunnel, Auckland. (GNS Science consultancy report No. 2010/296). Institute of Geological and Nuclear Sciences, Lower Hutt (NZ).

Davy, P.K., Trompetter, W.J., Markwitz, A., 2011b. Source apportionment of airborne particles in the Auckland region : 2010 analysis. (GNS Science consultancy report No. 2010/262). Institute of Geological and Nuclear Sciences, Lower Hutt (NZ).

Davy, P.K., Trompetter, W.J., Markwitz, A., 2009. Elemental analysis of wood burner emissions (GNS Science Client Report No. 2009/258). Institute of Geological and Nuclear Sciences, Lower Hutt (NZ).

Directive 2022/0347/COD. Directive (EU) 2022/0347/COD of the European Parliament and of the Council on the Directive of The European Parliament and of the Council on ambient air quality and cleaner air for Europe (recast). https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=COM%3A2022%3A542%3AFIN

Environmental Health Intelligence New Zealand, 2024. Average age of motor vehicles.

Ezani, E., Dhandapani, S., Heal, M.R., Praveena, S.M., Khan, M.F., Ramly, Z.T.A., 2021. Characteristics and Source Apportionment of Black Carbon (BC) in a Suburban Area of Klang Valley, Malaysia. Atmosphere 12, 784. https://doi.org/10.3390/atmos12060784

Ferrero, L., Bernardoni, V., Santagostini, L., Cogliati, S., Soldan, F., Valentini, S., Massabò, D., Močnik, G., Gregorič, A., Rigler, M., Prati, P., Bigogno, A., Losi, N., Valli, G., Vecchi, R., & Bolzacchini, E., 2021. Consistent determination of the heating rate of light-absorbing aerosol using wavelength- and time-dependent Aethalometer multiple-scattering correction. Science of the Total Environment, 791. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.148277

Fawole, O.G., Cai, X.M., Mackenzie, A.R., 2016. Gas flaring and resultant air pollution: A review focusing on black carbon. Environmental Pollution. 216:182-197. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2016.05.075.

Grahame, T.J., Klemm, R., Schlesinger, R.B., 2014. Public health and components of particulate matter: The changing assessment of black carbon. Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association 64, 620–660. https://doi.org/10.1080/10962247.2014.912692

Grange, S.K., Lötscher, H., Fischer, A., Emmenegger, L., Hueglin, C., 2020. Evaluation of equivalent black carbon source apportionment using observations from Switzerland between 2008 and 2018. Atmos. Meas. Tech. 13, 1867–1885. https://doi.org/10.5194/amt-13-1867-2020

Hays, M.D., Cho, S.-H., Baldauf, R., Schauer, J.J., Shafer, M., 2011. Particle size distributions of metal and non-metal elements in an urban near-highway environment. Atmospheric Environment 45, 925–934. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2010.11.010

Healy, R.M., Sofowote, U., Su, Y., Debosz, J., Noble, M., Jeong, C.-H., Wang, J.M., Hilker, N., Evans, G.J., Doerksen, G., Jones, K., Munoz, A., 2017. Ambient measurements and source

apportionment of fossil fuel and biomass burning black carbon in Ontario. Atmospheric Environment 161, 34–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2017.04.034

Helin, A., Niemi, J.V., Virkkula, A., Pirjola, L., Teinilä, K., Backman, J., Aurela, M., Saarikoski, S., Rönkkö, T., Asmi, E., Timonen, H., 2018. Characteristics and source apportionment of black carbon in the Helsinki metropolitan area, Finland. Atmospheric Environment 190, 87–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2018.07.022

Horvath, H., 1997. EXPERIMENTAL CALIBRATION FOR AEROSOL LIGHT ABSORPTION MEASUREMENTS USING THE INTEGRATING PLATE METHOD-SUMMARY OF THE DATA*. Aerosol Science 28, 1149–1161.

Huang, X.-F., Yu, J.Z., He, L.-Y., Hu, M., 2006. Size Distribution Characteristics of Elemental Carbon Emitted from Chinese Vehicles: Results of a Tunnel Study and Atmospheric Implications. Environ. Sci. Technol. 40, 5355–5360. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0607281

Hung, N.T.Q., Lee, S.-B., Hang, N.T., Kongpran, J., Kim Oanh, N.T., Shim, S.-G., Bae, G.-N., 2014. Characterization of black carbon at roadside sites and along vehicle roadways in the Bangkok Metropolitan Region. Atmospheric Environment 92, 231–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2014.04.011

IPCC, 2023: Climate Change 2023: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, H. Lee and J. Romero (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland, pp. 35-115, doi: 10.59327/IPCC/AR6-9789291691647.Jacobson, M.Z., 2010. Short-term effects of controlling fossil-fuel soot, biofuel soot and gases, and methane on climate, Arctic ice, and air pollution health. J. Geophys. Res. 115, 2009JD013795. https://doi.org/10.1029/2009JD013795

Janssen, N.A.H., Gerlofs-Nijland, M.E., Lanki, T., Salonen, R.O., Cassee, F., Hoek, G., Fischer, P., Brunekreef, B., Krzyzanowski, M., 2012. Health effects of black carbon (WHO Regional Office for Europe). WHO Regional Office for Europe. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2007.03.042

Janssen, N.A.H., Hoek, G., Simic-Lawson, M., Fischer, P., van Bree, L., ten Brink, H., Keuken, M., Atkinson, R.W., Anderson, H.R., Brunekreef, B., Cassee, F.R., 2011. Black Carbon as an Additional Indicator of the Adverse Health Effects of Airborne Particles Compared with PM ₁₀ and PM _{2.5}. Environ Health Perspect 119, 1691–1699. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1003369

Ke, L., Ding, X., Tanner, R.L., Schauer, J.J., Zheng, M., 2007. Source contributions to carbonaceous aerosols in the Tennessee Valley Region. Atmospheric Environment 41, 8898–8923. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2007.08.024

Kertész, Z., Aljboor, S., Angyal, A., Papp, E., Furu, E., Szarka, M., Bán, S., Szikszai, Z., 2024. Characterization of urban aerosol pollution before and during the COVID-19 crisis in a centraleastern European urban environment. Atmospheric Environment 318, 120267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2023.120267

Kirchstetter, T.W., Aguiar, J., Tonse, S., Fairley, D., Novakov, T., 2008. Black carbon concentrations and diesel vehicle emission factors derived from coefficient of haze measurements in California: 1967–2003. Atmospheric Environment 42, 480–491. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2007.09.063

Kirchstetter, T.W., Novakov, T., Hobbs, P.V., 2004. Evidence that the spectral dependence of light absorption by aerosols is affected by organic carbon. J. Geophys. Res. 109, 2004JD004999. https://doi.org/10.1029/2004JD004999

Kuschel, G., Metcalfe, J., Sridhar, S., Davy, P., Hastings, K., Mason, K., Denne, T., Berentson-Shaw, J., Bell, S., Hales, S., Atkinson, J., Woodward, A., 2022. Health and air pollution in New Zealand 2016 (HAPINZ 3.0).

Lack, D.A., Corbett, J.J., Onasch, T., Lerner, B., Massoli, P., Quinn, P.K., Bates, T.S., Covert, D.S., Coffman, D., Sierau, B., Herndon, S., Allan, J., Baynard, T., Lovejoy, E., Ravishankara, A.R., Williams, E., 2009. Particulate emissions from commercial shipping: Chemical, physical, and optical properties. J. Geophys. Res. 114, 2008JD011300. https://doi.org/10.1029/2008JD011300

Laeremans, M., Dons, E., Avila-Palencia, I., Carrasco-Turigas, G., Orjuela, J.P., Anaya, E., Cole-Hunter, T., de Nazelle, A., Nieuwenhuijsen, M., Standaert, A., Van Poppel, M., De Boever, P., Int Panis, L., 2018. Short-term effects of physical activity, air pollution and their interaction on the cardiovascular and respiratory system. Environment International 117, 82–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.04.040

Langer, E.R, Wegner, S., Pearce, G., Melia, N., Luff, N., Palmer, D., 2021. Adapting and mitigating wildfire risk due to climate change: extending knowledge and best practice. Scion Client Report. Scion, Rotorua (NZ).

Lei, L., Zhou, W., Chen, C., He, Y., Li, Z., Sun, J., Tang, X., Fu, P., Wang, Z., Sun, Y., 2021. Long-term characterization of aerosol chemistry in cold season from 2013 to 2020 in Beijing, China. Environmental Pollution 268, 115952. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.115952

Li, Y., Henze, D.K., Jack, D., Henderson, B.H., Kinney, P.L., 2016. Assessing public health burden associated with exposure to ambient black carbon in the United States. Science of The Total Environment 539, 515–525. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.08.129

Lopez-Reyes, A., Orozco-Rivera, G., Acuna-Askar, K., Villarreal-Chiu, J.F., Alfaro-Barbosa, J.M., 2016. Characterization of atmospheric black carbon in particulate matter over the Monterrey metropolitan area, Mexico, using scanning electron microscopy. Air Qual Atmos Health 9, 223–229. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11869-015-0328-5

Louwies, T., Nawrot, T., Cox, B., Dons, E., Penders, J., Provost, E., Panis, L.I., De Boever, P., 2015. Blood pressure changes in association with black carbon exposure in a panel of healthy adults are independent of retinal microcirculation. Environment International 75, 81–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2014.11.006

Luben, T.J., Nichols, J.L., Dutton, S.J., Kirrane, E., Owens, E.O., Datko-Williams, L., Madden, M., Sacks, J.D., 2017. A systematic review of cardiovascular emergency department visits, hospital admissions and mortality associated with ambient black carbon. Environment International 107, 154–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2017.07.005

McDonald, B.C., Goldstein, A.H., Harley, R.A., 2015. Long-term trends in California mobile source emissions and ambient concentrations of black carbon and organic aerosol. Environmental Science and Technology. 49(8):5178-5188. doi:10.1021/es505912b.

Manohar, M., Atanacio, A., Button, D., Cohen, D., 2021. MABI - A multi-wavelength absorption black carbon instrument for the measurement of fine light absorbing carbon particles. Atmospheric Pollution Research 12, 133–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apr.2021.02.009

Marina-Montes, C., Pérez-Arribas, L.V., Anzano, J., de Vallejuelo, S.F.-O., Aramendia, J., Gómez-Nubla, L., de Diego, A., Manuel Madariaga, J., Cáceres, J.O., 2022. Characterization of atmospheric aerosols in the Antarctic region using Raman Spectroscopy and Scanning Electron Microscopy. Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy 266, 120452. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.saa.2021.120452 Marley, H.G., Dirks, K.N., Neverman, A.J., McKendry, I., Salmond, J.A., 2021. The relationship between Brown haze, atmospheric boundary layer structure, and air pollution in an urban area of complex coastal terrain. Atmospheric Pollution Research 12, 101057. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apr.2021.101057

Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment, 2024. Electricity Statistics.

Ministry for the Environment & Stats NZ, 2020. Our Atmosphere and Climate 2020, New Zealand's Environmental Reporting Series.

Mitchell, T., 2021. Pilot study: using air quality monitoring to track changes in bus fleet emissions on the Golden Mile, Wellington City (No. GW/ESCI-T-21/7). Greater Wellington Regional Council.

Mousavi, A., Sowlat, M.H., Lovett, C., Rauber, M., Szidat, S., Boffi, R., Borgini, A., De Marco, C., Ruprecht, A.A., Sioutas, C., 2019. Source apportionment of black carbon (BC) from fossil fuel and biomass burning in metropolitan Milan, Italy. Atmospheric Environment 203, 252–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2019.02.009

National Environmental Standards for Air Quality – Resource Management Regulations 2004. https://www.legislation.govt.nz/regulation/public/2004/0309/latest/whole.html

Nie, D., Qiu, Z., Wang, X., Liu, Z., 2022. Characterizing the source apportionment of black carbon and ultrafine particles near urban roads in Xi'an, China. Environmental Research 215, 114209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2022.114209

Park, R.J., Jacob, D.J., Palmer, P.I., Clarke, A.D., Weber, R.J., Zondlo, M.A., Eisele, F.L., Bandy, A.R., Thornton, D.C., Sachse, G.W., Bond, T.C., 2005. Export efficiency of black carbon aerosol in continental outflow: Global implications. J. Geophys. Res. 110, 2004JD005432. https://doi.org/10.1029/2004JD005432

Patel, H., Talbot, N., Dirks, K., Salmond, J., 2023. The impact of low emission zones on personal exposure to ultrafine particles in the commuter environment. Science of The Total Environment 874, 162540. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.162540

Patel, H., Talbot, N., Salmond, J., Dirks, K., Xie, S., Davy, P., 2020. Implications for air quality management of changes in air quality during lockdown in Auckland (New Zealand) in response to the 2020 SARS-CoV-2 epidemic. Science of The Total Environment 746, 141129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141129

Paunescu, A.-C., Casas, M., Ferrero, A., Pañella, P., Bougas, N., Beydon, N., Just, J., Lezmi, G., Sunyer, J., Ballester, F., Momas, I., 2019. Associations of black carbon with lung function and airway inflammation in schoolchildren. Environment International 131, 104984. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.104984

Petzold, A., Ogren, J.A., Fiebig, M., Laj, P., Li, S.-M., Baltensperger, U., Holzer-Popp, T., Kinne, S., Pappalardo, G., Sugimoto, N., Wehrli, C., Wiedensohler, A., Zhang, X.-Y., 2013. Recommendations for reporting "black carbon" measurements. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 13, 8365–8379. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-13-8365-2013

Pósfai, M., Gelencsér, A., Simonics, R., Arató, K., Li, J., Hobbs, P.V., Buseck, P.R., 2004. Atmospheric tar balls: Particles from biomass and biofuel burning. J. Geophys. Res. 109, 2003JD004169. https://doi.org/10.1029/2003JD004169

Pósfai, M., Simonics, R., Li, J., Hobbs, P.V., Buseck, P.R., 2003. Individual aerosol particles from biomass burning in southern Africa: 1. Compositions and size distributions of carbonaceous particles. J. Geophys. Res. 108, 2002JD002291. https://doi.org/10.1029/2002JD002291

Salako, G.O., Hopke, P.K., Cohen, D.D., Begum, B.A., Biswas, S.K., Pandit, G.G., Chung, Y.-S., Rahman, S.A., Hamzah, M.S., Davy, P., Markwitz, A., Shagjjamba, D., Lodoysamba, S., Wimolwattanapun, W., Bunprapob, S., 2012. Exploring the Variation between EC and BC in a Variety of Locations. Aerosol Air Qual. Res. 12, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.4209/aaqr.2011.09.0150

Salmond, J.A., Dirks, K.N., Fiddes, S., Pezza, A., Talbot, N., Scarfe, J., Renwick, J., Petersen, J., 2016. A climatological analysis of the incidence of brown haze in Auckland, New Zealand. International Journal of Climatology 36, 2516–2526. https://doi.org/10.1002/JOC.4509

Sandradewi, J., Prévôt, A.S.H., Szidat, S., Perron, N., Alfarra, M.R., Lanz, V.A., Weingartner, E., Baltensperger, U., 2008. Using Aerosol Light Absorption Measurements for the Quantitative Determination of Wood Burning and Traffic Emission Contributions to Particulate Matter. Environ. Sci. Technol. 42, 3316–3323. https://doi.org/10.1021/es702253m

Santos, F., Fraser, M.P., Bird, J.A., 2014. Atmospheric black carbon deposition and characterization of biomass burning tracers in a northern temperate forest. Atmospheric Environment 95, 383–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2014.06.038

Sasser, E., Chappell, L., 2011. How air pollution affects climate: Short-lived climate forcers. EM: Air and Waste Management Association's Magazine for Environmental Managers(APR) 8–13.

Savadkoohi, M., Pandolfi, M., Favez, O., Putaud, J.-P., Eleftheriadis, K., Fiebig, M., Hopke, P.K., Laj, P., Wiedensohler, A., Alados-Arboledas, L., Bastian, S., Chazeau, B., María, Á.C., Colombi, C., Costabile, F., Green, D.C., Hueglin, C., Liakakou, E., Luoma, K., Listrani, S., Mihalopoulos, N., Marchand, N., Močnik, G., Niemi, J.V., Ondráček, J., Petit, J.-E., Rattigan, O.V., Reche, C., Timonen, H., Titos, G., Tremper, A.H., Vratolis, S., Vodička, P., Funes, E.Y., Zíková, N., Harrison, R.M., Petäjä, T., Alastuey, A., Querol, X., 2024. Recommendations for reporting equivalent black carbon (eBC) mass concentrations based on long-term pan-European in-situ observations. Environment International 185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2024.108553

Savadkoohi, M., Pandolfi, M., Reche, C., Niemi, J.V., Mooibroek, D., Titos, G., Green, D.C., Tremper, A.H., Hueglin, C., Liakakou, E., Mihalopoulos, N., Stavroulas, I., Artiñano, B., Coz, E., Alados-Arboledas, L., Beddows, D., Riffault, V., De Brito, J.F., Bastian, S., Baudic, A., Colombi, C., Costabile, F., Chazeau, B., Marchand, N., Gómez-Amo, J.L., Estellés, V., Matos, V., van der Gaag, E., Gille, G., Luoma, K., Manninen, H.E., Norman, M., Silvergren, S., Petit, J.-E., Putaud, J.-P., Rattigan, O.V., Timonen, H., Tuch, T., Merkel, M., Weinhold, K., Vratolis, S., Vasilescu, J., Favez, O., Harrison, R.M., Laj, P., Wiedensohler, A., Hopke, P.K., Petäjä, T., Alastuey, A., Querol, X., 2023. The variability of mass concentrations and source apportionment analysis of equivalent black carbon Environment International 108081. across urban Europe. 178, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2023.108081

Schneider, J., Kirchner, U., Borrmann, S., Vogt, R., Scheer, V., 2008. In situ measurements of particle number concentration, chemically resolved size distributions and black carbon content of traffic-related emissions on German motorways, rural roads and in city traffic. Atmospheric Environment 42, 4257–4268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2008.01.014

Sharma, A., Kumar, P., 2018. A review of factors surrounding the air pollution exposure 1 to inpram babies and mitigation strategies. Environment International 262–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.07.038

Shrestha, G., Traina, S.J., Swanston, C.W., 2010. Black Carbon's Properties and Role in the Environment: A Comprehensive Review. Sustainability 2, 294–320. https://doi.org/10.3390/su2010294

Shu, Z., Huang, C., Min, K., Long, C., Liu, L., Tan, J., Liu, Q., 2023. Trends in Analytical Chemistry Analysis of black carbon in environmental and biological media: Recent progresses and

challenges. Trends in Analytical Chemistry, 169, 117347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2023.117347

Singh, V., Ravindra, K., Sahu, L., Sokhi, R., 2018. Trends of atmospheric black carbon concentration over the United Kingdom. Atmospheric Environment 178, 148–157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2018.01.030

Smith, S.J., Mizrahi, A., 2013. Near-term climate mitigation by short-lived forcers. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 110, 14202–14206.

Spohn, T.K., Martin, D., Geever, M., O'Dowd, C., 2022. Black carbon measurements from Ireland's Atmospheric Composition and Climate Change (AC3) network. Atmospheric Environment 271, 118932. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2021.118932

Stats NZ, 2021. Functional urban areas – methodology and classification.

Sun, J., Wang, Zhe, Zhou, W., Xie, C., Wu, C., Chen, C., Han, T., Wang, Q., Li, Z., Li, J., Fu, P., Wang, Zifa, Sun, Y., 2022. Measurement report: Long-term changes in black carbon and aerosol optical properties from 2012 to 2020 in Beijing, China. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 22, 561–575. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-22-561-2022

Tobías, A., Rivas, I., Reche, C., Alastuey, A., Rodríguez, S., Fernández-Camacho, R., Sánchez de la Campa, A.M., de la Rosa, J., Sunyer, J., Querol, X., 2018. Short-term effects of ultrafine particles on daily mortality by primary vehicle exhaust versus secondary origin in three Spanish cities. Environment International 111, 144–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2017.11.015

Trompetter, W.J., Davy, P.K., Markwitz, A., 2010. Influence of environmental conditions on carbonaceous particle concentrations within New Zealand. Journal of Aerosol Science 41, 134–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaerosci.2009.11.003

Trompetter, W.J., Grange, S.K., Davy, P.K., Ancelet, T., 2013. Vertical and temporal variations of black carbon in New Zealand urban areas during winter. Atmospheric Environment 75, 179–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2013.04.036

Wu, C., Wu, D., Yu, J.Z., 2018. Quantifying black carbon light absorption enhancement with a novel statistical approach. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 18, 289–309. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-18-289-2018

Wu, Y., Xia, Y., Huang, R., Deng, Z., Tian, P., Xia, X., Zhang, R., 2019. A study of the morphology and effective density of externally mixed black carbon aerosols in ambient air using a size-resolved single-particle soot photometer (SP2). Atmos. Meas. Tech. 12, 4347–4359. https://doi.org/10.5194/amt-12-4347-2019

Xu, H., Ren, Y., Zhang, W., Meng, W., Yun, X., Yu, X., Li, J., Zhang, Y., Shen, G., Ma, J., Li, B., Cheng, H., Wang, X., Wan, Y., Tao, S., 2021. Updated Global Black Carbon Emissions from 1960 to 2017: Improvements, Trends, and Drivers. Environ. Sci. Technol. 55, 7869–7879. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c03117

Zhang, Z., Cheng, Y., Liang, L., Liu, J., 2023. The Measurement of Atmospheric Black Carbon: A Review. Toxics 11, 975. https://doi.org/10.3390/toxics11120975

Appendices

A1.0 Draft Questionnaire for Councils

Monitoring of Black Carbon in New Zealand – Questionnaire for Councils

- 1. How should 'black carbon' be defined for monitoring purposes?
- 2. Is black carbon currently monitored within your region?

NO / YES

If NO – please proceed to ${\bf Q7}.$ If YES, please proceed to ${\bf Q3}$

- 3. What instrument(s)/method(s) do you use?
- 4. What are the primary objectives of your black carbon monitoring programme?
- 5. How do you interpret/analyse the black carbon data you collect.
- 6. Have you encountered any issues with current technology/instruments/devices?
- 7. Do you plan on commencing or expanding black carbon monitoring in your region?
- 8. What other pollutants (if any) do you think black carbon should be monitored with? Please circle: $NO_2 PM_{10} PM_{2.5} O_3 SO_2 CO$

Other (please specify):_____

- 9. Do you foresee any barriers to monitoring black carbon in your region?
- 10. How do you envisage monitoring to be funded?
- **11.** Is there anything else you think the Ministry should consider when implementing black carbon monitoring for State of the Environment reporting?
- **12.** Would you be open to a short 10–15-minute zoom/phone call to discuss anything further?
 - NO / YES

A2.0 Description of Methods

Table A1: Description of the various methods used for the determination of BC with advantages and disadvantages of each

Method	Description	Advantages	Disadvantages	
Thermal Optical Analysis (TOA)	This method makes use of the thermal resistivity of 'elemental' carbon (EC) and the diverging thermal properties of organic carbon (OC). The filter is first heated in inert gas and the OC volatilized at different temperatures and detected as CO_2 or CH_4 (depending on the measurement setup). The filter is then cooled and reheated in the presence of oxygen to combust the EC; gases are detected in the same way. The different heating phases shed light on the specific content of OC/EC in the sample.	Analysis of OC and EC (and other species), ability to perform source apportionment,	Expensive, time consuming and complex lab set-up, cannot provide real- time data, sample loss (charring and pyrolysis), filter membrane effects, high uncertainty at low concentration.	
Optical Method	The optical method light of different wavelengths is used to illuminate a sample collected filter media. Due to the different light absorbing properties of BC, BC is indirectly converted to a mass using a mass absorption coefficient (MAC).	Simplicity, cost- effectiveness, insensitivity to gaseous interferences, ability to perform in-field analysis, ability to perform source apportionment	Interferences from other light absorbing substances, variations in mass absorption coefficients.	
Laser-Induced Incandescence (LII)	In the LII method, the sample is heated rapidly by a laser to achieve gasification temperature (~4000k). The mass is determined by the intensity of the incandescent signal.	Useful for studying physio- chemical properties and degree of aging, not impacted by organic coating of particles.	Underestimates the mass of larger sized BC particles, Expensive, time consuming and complex lab set-up, cannot provide real- time data, sample loss (charring and pyrolysis).	

A3.0 Black Carbon Measurement

When measuring black carbon by light reflection/transmission, light from a light source is transmitted through a filter onto a photocell. The amount of light absorption is proportional to the amount of black carbon present and provides a value that is a measure of the black carbon on the filter. Conversion of the absorbance value to an atmospheric concentration value of black carbon (BC) requires the use of an empirically derived equation (Cohen et al. 2000):

Equation A1.1	BC (μg cm ⁻²) = (100/2(Fε)) ln[R₀/R]

where:

3	is the mass absorbent coefficient for BC ($m^2 g^{-1}$) at a given wavelength.
F	is a correction factor to account for other absorbing factors such as sulphates, nitrates, shadowing and filter loading. These effects are generally assumed to be negligible, and F is set at 1.00.

R₀ and R are the pre- and post-reflection intensity measurements, respectively.

Black carbon was measured at GNS Science using the M43D Digital Smoke Stain Reflectometer. The following equation (from Willy Maenhaut, Institute for Nuclear Sciences, University of Gent, Belgium) was used for obtaining black carbon from reflectance measurements on Nucleopore polycarbonate filters or Pall Life Sciences Teflon filters:

Equation A1.2	BC ($ug cm^{-2}$) = [1000	LOG(Rhlank/Rsample) + 2.39	1/45.8
Equation/inz			, 2.00	1, 40.0

where:

R_{blank} is the average reflectance for a series of blank filters; it is close (but not identical) to 100. GNS Science always uses the same blank filter for adjusting to 100.

R_{sample} is the reflectance for a filter sample (normally lower than 100).

With 2.39 and 45.8 constants derived using a series of 100 Nuclepore polycarbonate filter samples, which served as secondary standards; the black carbon loading (in μ g cm⁻²) for these samples had been determined by Prof. Dr. MO Andreae (Max Planck Institute of Chemistry, Mainz, Germany) relative to standards that were prepared by collecting burning acetylene soot on filters and determining the mass concentration gravimetrically (Trompetter 2004).

A4.0 Site Summary and Metadata

Table A2: New Zealand PM speciation and BC monitoring sites.

Region	Sites	Time Period	Frequency	Size Fraction	Location (Lat; Long)
Northland	Whangārei	2004–2012	1-day-in-6	PM ₁₀	-35.7252; 174.3177
	Masterton	2002–2004	1-day-in-3	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋	-40.9523; 175.6465
	Masterton (two sites)	Winter 2010	Hourly continuous	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋	-40.9593; 175.6531
	Upper Hutt	2000–2002	Variable	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋	-41.1308; 175.0426
	Wainuiomata	2006–2008, 2011–2014	1-day-in-3	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋	-41.2681; 174.9534
	Wainuiomata	2014–onward	6/12- hourly continuous	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋	-41.2681; 174.9534
	Seaview	2002–2004, 2005–2007	1-day-in-3	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋	-41.2405; 174.9140
Wellington	Wairarapa (Masterton, Carterton, Featherston)	Winter 2009	Daily PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋ (screening) 2.5		-
	Mt Victoria Tunnel	Summer 2009	Peak traffic	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋	-41.3035; 174.7892
	Baring Head	1996–1998	Weekly	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋	-41.4082; 174.8714
	Raumati	Winter 2010	12-hourly	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋	-40.9321; 174.9799
	Seven indoor/outdoor sites	Winter 2017	2-hourly PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋ continuous 2.5		-
	Masterton East	2018	1-day-in-3	PM _{2.5}	-40.9593; 175.6531
	Newtown	2016	2-hourly continuous	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋	-41.3111; 174.7797
	Port Nicholson	Dec 2019 – March 2020	6-hourly continuous	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋	-41.2772; 174.7857
	Willis Street	Dec 2019 – March 2020; April 2021 – ongoing	12-hourly continuous	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋ 2.5	-41.2936; 174.7719
	Kingsland	2004–2007	1-day-in-3	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀	-36.8732; 174.7471
	Takapuna	2007–2016	1-day-in-3	PM _{2.5}	-36.7803; 174.7489
Auckland	Takapuna	2006–onward	1-day-in-3	PM ₁₀	-36.7803; 174.7489
	Takapuna (three sites)	Winter 2012	Hourly continuous	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋	-36.7803; 174.7489

Region	Sites	Time Period	Frequency	Size Fraction	Location (Lat; Long)
	Queen Street	2006–2016	1-day-in-3	PM _{2.5}	-36.8476;174.7655
	Queen Street	2006–onward	Daily	PM ₁₀	-36.8476; 174.7655
	Penrose	2006–2016	1-day-in-3	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀	-36.9045; 174.8156
	Khyber Pass Road	2006–2015	1-day-in-3	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀	-36.8662; 174.7705
	Henderson	2006–onward	1-day-in-3	PM ₁₀	-36.8681; 174.6284
	Patumāhoe	2010	Daily	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋	-37.2046; 174.8639
	Johnstone Hills tunnel	June 2010	3-hourly	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋	-36.5353; 174.6800
	Tāhunanui	2005–2019	1-day-in-3	PM ₁₀	-41.2949; 173.2431
Nelson	Nelson City	2006–2018	1-day-in-3	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀	-41.2783; 173.2735
	Nelson City (three sites)	Winter 2011	Hourly continuous	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋	-41.2783; 173.2735
Marlborough	Blenheim	2007	1-day-in-3	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋	-41.5268; 173.9561
Otago	Dunedin	2010	1-day-in-3	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋	-45.8689; 170.5177
	Alexandra (three sites)	Winter 2011	Hourly PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋ continuous 2.5		-45.2534; 169.3912
	Christchurch	2001–2002	Daily	PM _{2.5}	-43.5112; 172.6337
	Timaru	2006–2007	1-day-in-3	PM _{2.5}	-44.4046; 171.2496
	Woolston	2013–2014	2-hourly continuous	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋	-43.5572; 172.6811
	Christchurch, Coles Place	2013–2015	1-day-in-3	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋	-43.5112; 172.6337
Canterbury	Christchurch: Coles Place, Woolston, Riccarton (high- resolution three-site study)	Winter 2014	2-hourly PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋ continuous 2.5		-43.5112; 172.6337
	Lyttelton Port high resolution study	Summer 2021	6-hourly continuous	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋	-43.6061; 172.7273
	Hastings	2006–2007	1-day-in-3	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀	-39.6385; 176.8574
Hawke's Bay	Meanee Rd	2006 + 2008	1-day-in-2 (screening survey)PM2.5, PM10- 2.5		-
	Napier	2008–2009	1-day-in-3		-
	Awatoto	2016–2017	1-day-in-3	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋	-39.5459; 176.9192

Region	Sites	Time Period	Frequency	Size Fraction	Location (Lat; Long)	
	Marewa Park	2017–2018	1-day-in-3		-39.5002; 176.8971	
	Hastings	2022–2023	1-day-in-3	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀	-39.6385; 176.8574	
Southland	Invercargill	Winter 2014	Hourly PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋ continuous 2.5		-46.4305; 168.3711	
	Tokoroa	Winter 2014	Daily	PM ₁₀	-38.2216; 175.8589	
Waikato	Tokoroa	October 2015 – October 2016	Daily	PM ₁₀	-38.2216; 175.8589	
Bay of Plenty	Rotorua (Whakarewarewa Village)	October 2014 – 2019	1-day-in-3	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀₋	-38.1625; 176.2571	
	Richmond	2013–2016	1-day-in-3	PM ₁₀	-41.3396; 173.1833	
Tasman	Richmond	2015–2016	Daily	PM _{2.5}	-41.3396; 173.1833	
	Motueka	2022	Daily	PM _{2.5}	-41.3396; 173.1833	
West Coast	Westport	Winter 2023	Daily	PM _{2.5} , PM ₁₀	-41.7511; 171.5998	

A5.0 Summary of Responses

Table A3: Summary of response from Councils on monitoring of BC

Council	Ever monitored BC?	Continuous	Intermittent/ mobile using continuous	Filter-based analysis	Considering continuous BC monitoring	Instrument Type
Northland Regional Council	YES	NO	NO	YES	NO	
Auckland Council	YES	YES	NO	YES	YES	Magee AE33, MetOne 1060
Environment Waikato	YES	NO	NO	YES	MAYBE	
Bay of Plenty Regional Council	YES	NO	NO	YES	NO	
Gisborne District Council	NO	NO	NO	NO	NO	
Taranaki Regional Council	NO	NO	NO	NO	NO	
Hawkes Bay Regional Council	YES	NO	NO	YES	MAYBE	
Horizons Regional Council	YES	NO	NO	YES	NO	
Greater Wellington Regional Council	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	Magee AE33, MA350
Marlborough District Council	YES	NO	NO	YES	NO	
Nelson City Council	YES	NO	NO	YES	NO	
Tasman District Council	YES	NO	NO	YES	NO	
West Coast Regional Council	YES	NO	NO	YES	NO	
Environment Canterbury	YES	YES	NO	YES	YES	Magee AE33
Otago Regional Council	YES	YES	NO	YES	YES	Magee AE33
Environment Southland	YES	NO	NO	YES	NO	

A6.0 Source Apportionment

Figure A115: Time-series plot of source contributions to (left) black carbon and (Right) PM₁₀ at the Takapuna site, Auckland.





